BUILDING AN ENHANCED BROWSING/ READING ENVIRONMENT BY THE INSTALLATION OF THE BROWSREADER IN THE CHILDREN'S ROOM OF A LIBRARY OR KINDERGARTEN

DECEMBER, 2012

JIA LIU

BUILDING AN ENHANCED BROWSING/READING ENVIRONMENT BY THE INSTALLATION OF THE BROWSREADER IN THE CHILDREN'S ROOM OF A LIBRARY OR KINDERGARTEN

DECEMBER, 2012

JIA LIU

Preface

Reading together draws much attention as a societal concern for children not only to yield emotional reaction but also to gradually advance intellectual thinking. We here aim to build a new environment, in which children's activity in browsing/reading picture books together with families and/or friends is steadily enhanced, by installing the BrowsReader in the children's room of a public library or kindergarten. The BrowsReader is a system to assist children in finding and reading a large number and wide variety of picture books. Its basic ideas involve the processing of the primary and secondary information seamlessly and the assisting children in browsing/reading together the printed, digitized, and web picture books. The children, by gathering around the BrowsReader, can browse picture books and then choose and read a book by flipping pages on it.

We introduces three notions to realize the BrowsReader: a surrogate picture book, which consists of the front-cover image followed by the page images of a printed, digitized or web picture book; an abstracted bookshelf, which presents the front-cover images and the titles of many surrogate picture books in the form where all are linearly arranged, with some of the images bundled in places and some of the titles superimposed in string; and a unified view, which presents each page of any surrogate picture book in a form that seems like a printed picture book's page. We then specifies, the BrowsReader which can be installed in each children's room so that children together with families and/or friends can easily browse a large number of surrogate picture books as if they are browsing in the physical bookshelves of the children's room without noticing the difference between the primary and secondary information, and can read any found surrogate picture book as if they are reading an ordinary printed picture book on a table.

The evaluation about whether children's activity in browsing/reading together was enhanced in a new environment by installing the BrowsReader has been carried out in a step by step process through two phases; in the temporary children's rooms realized in children's events 2007, 2008, and 2009, and in the actual children's rooms of four public libraries and one kindergarten. In the former phase, we certified that children constantly enjoyed using the BrowsReader together and confirmed the BrowsReader could be used in an actual situation. In the latter phase, we further clarified that the children's activity in browsing/reading together was steadily enhanced when using the BrowsReader by analyzing the data of the employed logging system and questioning the librarians and kindergarten teachers.

Acknowledgements

This dissertation would not have been possible without the guidance, encouragement, and support coming from my supervisor, Professor Testuro Ito. I owe my deepest gratitude to him. During these seven years, he has never changed his patient guidance and concern, no matter what has happened to me. When I was in the research bottleneck and the bottom of the life, he gave me many valuable advices all the time. I am honored to be his student, and I am sure that all the things learned from him will benefit me all through life. I would like to thank Associate Professor Makoto Nakashima and Assistant Professor Keizo Sato, who gave me so many valuable advices, and always taught and helped me to resolve so many technical issues about the study. I also would like to thank Engineering Official Shigeki Matsubara and Yasufumi Takano, Nana Toyokuni, et al., all the members of our research team, who helped me with the case studies in the events, libraries, and kindergartens, and usually discussed with me about the study in detail. I express my gratitude to all those who gave me the possibility to complete this dissertation. Professor Naomichi Sueda, Professor Tsuyoshi Kawaguchi, Professor Yoshimichi Ochi, and Professor Hiroaki Nishino, who took effort in reading and providing me with valuable comments on earlier versions of this dissertation. I also express my gratitude to the librarians of Oita Prefectural library, Oita City library, Beppu City library, and Yufu City library, and the teachers of Beppu University's attached kindergarten for the kindness of accommodating our request to use the children's rooms for building enhanced browsing/reading environments. I feel grateful for them.

Contents

Preface	i
Acknowledgments	iii
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Objective	2
1.3 Outline of the Dissertation	5
2. Related Work	7
3. The BrowsReader	11
3.1 Basic Ideas	11
3.1.1 Primary and Secondary Information	12
3.1.2 Browse/Read Together	13
3.2 Surrogate Picture Book, Abstracted Bookshelf and Unified View	15
3.3 Organizing an Abstracted Bookshelf	21
3.3.1 The Left Side	21
3.3.2 The Right Side	23
3.3.3 Dragging-in or Dragging-out a Character	25
3.4 Providing a Unified View	26
3.4.1 Keeping Copyright Protection Intact	26
3.4.2 The Mechanism	27
3.5 Reading a Surrogate Picture Book	

3.6 A Scenario of Utilizing the BrowsReader	
4. Customization of the BrowsReader to be installed in a Library or Kindergarte	n31
5. Case Studies	
5.1 In the Temporary Children's Rooms	
5.1.1 Parameter Settings	
5.1.2 Experimental Settings	
5.1.3 Results and Discussions	
5.2 In the Actual Children's Rooms	42
5.2.1 In the Children's Room of Oita Prefectural Library	43
5.2.1.1 Environmental Settings	43
5.2.1.2 Results and Discussions	45
5.2.2 In the Children's Room of Beppu University's Attached Kindergarten	51
5.2.2.1 Environmental Settings	51
5.2.2.2 Results and Discussions	53
5.2.3 In the Children's Rooms of Oita, Beppu, and Yufu City Libraries	57
5.2.3.1 Environmental Settings	57
5.2.3.2 Results and Comparative Discussions	59
6. Concluding Remarks and Future Work	65
References	69
Index	75

v

List of Figures

Figure 1.1.	An enhanced children's room of Oita University library
Figure 3.1.	Information processing in the BrowsReader
Figure 3.2. Figure 3.3.	A framework for enhancing children's activity in browsing/reading together
8	picture books
Figure 3.4.	An initial abstracted bookshelf and a changed over one
Figure 3.5.	Surrogate picture books providing a unified view20
Figure 3.6.	Enlargement/reduction of the bookcases
Figure 3.7.	Enlargement of the titles24
Figure 3.8.	Mechanism of obtaining a surrogate picture book providing a unified view
Figure 3.9.	Use of the BrowsReader
Figure 5.1.	Statistics as to dragging-in at least one character in the 2007, 2008, and 2009 events
Figure 5.2.	Statistics as to reading digitized/web or printed picture books in the 2007, 2008, and 2009 events
Figure 5.3.	Average numbers of touched front-cover images on KENTO47
Figure 5.4.	Average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, characters icons, and titles on KENTO
Figure 5.5.	Average numbers of touched front-cover images and average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, character icons, and titles on BEPPU-KND
Figure 5.6.	Average numbers of touched front-cover images on COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU
Figure 5.7.	Average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, character icons, and titles on COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU63

List of Tables

Table 5.1. Environmental se	ttings for the case studies in the temp	porary
children's rooms.		
Table 5.2. Questions in the c	questionnaires for the 2007, 2008, an	d 2009
events		
Table 5.3. Percentages of po	ositive answers to the questions in the	e 2007,
2008, and 2009 e	vents	41
Table 5.4. Environmental se	ttings for the case study in Oita Prefe	ectural
library		
Table 5.5. Number of picture	e books in KENTO	
Table 5.6. Questions for the	librarians about KENTO	
Table 5.7. Answers to the qu	estions about KENTO for the librari	ans50
Table 5.8. Environmental se	ttings for the case study in Beppu Un	niversity's
attached kinderga	irten	
Table 5.9. Number of picture	e books in BEPPU-KND	
Table 5.10. Answers to the q	juestions about BEPPU-KND for the	teachers56
Table 5.11. Environmental s	ettings for the case studies in Oita, F	Beppu, and
Yufu City librari	ies	
Table 5.12. Number of pictu	re books in COMPAL, SENTO, and	YUFU59
Table 5.13. Average number	ratios of the digitized/web picture b	ooks read
together to the f	ront-cover images of digitized/web r	picture
books touched o	on KENTO, COMPAL, SENTO, and	YUFU62
Table 5.14. Average number	ratios of the digitized/web picture b	ooks
actually read tog	gether to the ones hypothetically read	d together
according to RKR	ENTO ON KENTO, COMPAL, SENTO,	and YUFU 62
-		

1. Introduction

Picture books play an important role as textbooks for children. Children's activity in reading together draws much attention as a societal concern. For enhancing children's activity in browsing/reading picture books together with their families and/or friends, we aim to build a new reading environment in the children's room of a library or kindergarten. This chapter overviews the background of the study and describes how to build the new environment.

1.1 Background

Reading picture books together with peers or adults motivates children to become active participants in a reading community [34]. By reading-to-children and also reading picture books together mainly with families, younger children experience a range of emotions - e.g. joy, happiness, and sad - by being affected in their cerebral limbic systems [60]. These experiences and the experience in reading picture books together with families and/or friends, which accompanies reading-aloud, in succeeding years largely help older children to acquire literacy skills, broaden communication ability, and advance intellectual thinking by developing the frontal association areas within their cerebrums [4] [25] [41] [60].

The children's room of a public library or kindergarten is one of the best places for children to find and read picture books of interest together with their families and/or friends [59]. It can be noted that if the collection in a children's room is not biased in content and not limited in number, it becomes more attractive and enhances the reading together activity. Unfortunately, mainly due to finance, many small public libraries are unable to collect a large number and/or wide variety of picture books. It also can be noted that children should be able to find picture books of interest by browsing in through the entire collection. In the children's room of a large public library, however, children face the challenge of finding these books; i.e. they either have to physically browse through multiple bookshelves or search a bibliographic database for keywords.

The problem in the children's room of a small library described above could be solved by bringing digitized picture books into the existing printed picture book collection (in this case digitized picture books refer to the picture books that have received permission for digitizing and copying from the copyright owners), in addition to web picture books that are the picture books in Digital Ehon [15], Digital Okayama Encyclopedia [16] [44], the International Children's Digital Library [27] [31], etc., freely accessed via the Web. The problem that exists in the children's room of a large library can be potentially solved by building an environment in which children together can easily browse through a bookshelf that conveniently keeps the entire collection. Note that the adoption of off-the-shelf digital picture books provided by the web stores, e.g. Kindle Store [36] and Barnes & Noble [6], exerts a significant influence on the execution of a library budget.

1.2 Objective

We here try to solve the problems described above, by building a new children's reading environment in the children's room of a library or kindergarten, where the BrowsReader is installed, and children's activity in browsing/reading together with their families and/or friends is steadily enhanced. Most of these children are kindergartners and the rest are mainly lower graders. The BrowsReader [38] [39] [40] is a system designed so that children can gather around it and engage in picture bookshelf browsing and picture book reading. Its basic ideas involve the processing of the primary and secondary information seamlessly, and the assisting children in browsing/reading together the printed, digitized, and web picture books. For the former, it is designed to display the virtual bookshelf storing many picture books and the index listing the titles, and show the results in the bookshelf and index promptly while browsing in them, for helping children to make connection between the two kinds of information. For the latter, it is designed to utilize the digitized/web picture books as if they were the real printed books, for assisting children in reading the found picture book together by moving around, rotating, and enlarging the book without noticing the differences between the real printed books and digital ones.

The children in such a room can easily browse a large number of picture books as if they are browsing in the physical bookshelves, and can read a wide variety of picture books as if they are reading ordinary printed picture books. The hardware setting of the environment is just a computer with a display. A touch-display relatively large in screen size is preferable so that the children together can operate the BrowsReader. Figure 1.1, shows an environment built in the children's room of Oita University library to enhance children's activity in brows-ing/reading together, which is open to the public.



Fig. 1.1 An enhanced children's room of Oita University library.

To realize the BrowsReader in an actual children's room with a large collection, we introduce three notions: a *surrogate picture book*, which presents a front-cover image followed by the page images of a printed, digitized, or web picture book, an *abstracted bookshelf*, which presents the front-cover images and the titles of many picture books in the form where all are linearly arranged, with some of the images bundled in places and some of the titles superimposed in string, and a *unified view*, which presents every page of any picture book in a form that seems like a printed picture book's page. The features of the BrowsReader realized involve:

- A large number and wide variety of printed, digitized, and web picture books are reproduced as surrogate picture books.
- (2) Children, together with their families and/or friends, can easily browse in an abstracted bookshelf storing surrogate picture books and have a similar experience to browsing in the physical bookshelves of a children's room, without noticing the difference between the primary and secondary information.
- (3) Children, together with their families and/or friends, can read any found surrogate picture book in a unified view that allows each surrogate picture book to be viewed as if it is an ordinary printed picture book.
- (4) The browsing/reading activity for the surrogate picture books would not infringe upon copyright protection.

We consider that children together with their families and/or friends have read picture books using the BrowsReader in a children's room when they together spend 2 to 5 minutes for flipping the pages of each of these picture books, by supposing that during this time period many kindergartners have enjoyed looking around the pictures and/or hearing the stories, and many lower graders, in addition, have become intellectually activated through reading-aloud of the texts. The estimation of the time period is based on the observation of the kindergartners' reading activity in the children's room of a kindergarten.

By gathering around the BrowsReader children can easily browse in an abstracted bookshelf and then find surrogate picture books which are of interest. Any found surrogate picture book, which can be moved around, rotated, and enlarged, is read by flipping the pages with the same convenience as with a familiar printed picture book. The children are also free to browse while reading. The BrowsReader is different from an ordinary bibliographic search engine in which the information about the desired picture books is searched for by inputting the keywords or category symbols and is presented on a display. In the BrowsReader all the front-cover images are linearly arranged and then presented in such a way that some of them, which will be of particular interest, are enlarged and the rest are reduced. Further the presence of all the front-cover images is shown all of the time. The BrowsReader is relatively easily customized so that it can be installed in any children's room, where the main task of the customization is to generate the surrogate picture books for the collection there.

The effect upon the installation of the BrowsReader has been evaluated along with its step by step improvement through eight case studies; three of the case studies were conducted in the temporary children's rooms built in Oita University campus and five in the actual children's rooms of Oita Prefectural library [48], Oita City library [47], Beppu City library [8], Yufu City library [63], and Beppu University's attached kindergarten [9]. A free-style evaluation study, where children freely used the BrowsReader, was employed so as not to have any long lasting influence on the children's browsing/reading activity in the future. In the initial three studies, where hundreds of digitized and non-flash-based web picture books and also printed picture books became available, the children's behavior was observed, and then the children were questioned and interviewed to evaluate the effect of the installation. Through the observation and the answers we confirmed the BrowsReader was able to work in enhancing the activity in browsing/reading together. In the latter five studies, a relatively large number of digitized, non-flash-based/flash-based web picture books and a fairly large number of printed picture books collected in a children's room became available on the BrowsReader. The printed, digitized, and web picture books, which were arranged so that they reflected the scheme used to classify the printed picture books, were able to be browsed all together, and any digitized/web picture book be read as if it was an ordinary printed picture book. By analyzing the data of the employed logging system, and questioning and interviewing the librarians and kindergarten teachers who observed the children's behavior, we collected the evidence showing that the children's activity in browsing/reading together was steadily enhanced in the actual children's rooms.

1.3 Outline of the Dissertation

The rest of this dissertation is organized as follows: Chapter 2 overviews previous studies, which have focused on enhancing the browsing/reading activity. There are three main streams in recent studies; the first stream involves some ideas and activities; the second stream pro-

vides digital children's books via the Web; the third involves devising new large-scale digital devices in libraries.

Chapter 3 states the basic ideas, which involve the processing of the primary and secondary information seamlessly, and the assisting the children in browsing/reading together the printed, digitized, and web picture books. To realize the BrowsReader, we mainly introduce three notions named surrogate picture book, abstracted bookshelf and unified view. Following that, the details about how to organize an abstracted bookshelf and provide a unified view in the BrowsReader are described. The end of this chapter depicts a scenario when children utilize the BrowsReader with their families and/or friends.

Chapter 4 shows a description about how the BrowsReader is customized so that it can be installed in an actual children's room, where the main task of the customization is to generate the surrogate picture books for the collection.

Chapter 5 describes the details of the case studies that were conducted to evaluate the BrowsReader in enhancing children's activity in browsing/reading in temporary children's rooms built in Oita University campus and in actual children's rooms of four public libraries and one kindergarten. We confirmed the BrowsReader was able to work in enhancing children's browsing/reading together from the observation and the answers in the case studies in the temporary children's rooms, and we collected the evidence showing that the children's activity in browsing/reading together was steadily enhanced in the actual children's rooms from analyzing the data of the employed logging system, and questioning and interviewing the librarians and kindergarten teachers.

Chapter 6 finally summarizes our proposition, and discusses a future research direction to further investigate the effect of the BrowsReader in children's activity in browsing/reading together, and gradually establish the collaboration of the BrowsReader in various libraries for assisting children in a children's room in browsing/reading picture books collected in all the libraries.

2. Related work

Recent studies have suggested that the environments for enhancing the children's activity in browsing/reading together are built along three main streams. The first stream involves ideas which encourage children to read the printed children's books¹ in the children's room of a public library. The second stream provides a large collection of digital children's books in a server system and encourages children to read and discuss via client computers. The third involves devising new large-scale digital devices that intensify the children's physical activity.

The reading-to-children programs of public libraries in the promotion of children's reading activity in Japan [20] and Storytime programs in USA [43] have been very effective in attracting children (mainly aged 0 to 3) for reading together with their families. The effort of Carnegie and Kate Greenaway Awards [51] [61] in UK organizes children into different groups, and each group reads the books in a library chosen from a shortlist of the nominated children's books. Afterwards, they communicate via the Internet across the country to choose the best books. In another effort, Statewide Summer Reading Program [26] [57] in New York State in USA, 1,100 local public libraries across the states organize children aged 0 to 5 as well as older children during summer to read various children's books together with their families in a series of events. The main benefit there is to provide fun to the children through reading together, which is an important part of learning [4]. All the efforts described above, however, involve the creation of special plans valid for a limited period of time. Further the collection in each library is limited in number and biased in content, and in addition, out-of-print books could not be read there either.

¹ A picture book here is a kind of children's book.

Providing digitized picture books through the Web is one way of alleviating those problems. The free website, Old Picture Book [49], produces the web based digitized versions of the great Old Picture Books written by authors such as Kate Greenaway, a popular nineteenth century writer for children, through the Web. Although reading these picture books together can provide an excellent opportunity to teach children many things, supporting children's browsing to find books of interest is crucial in increasing the amount of reading they do [54]. Oxford Owl [52], the website built by Oxford University Press, has claimed that encouraging younger children, mostly preschoolers, to read picture books together with their parents can effectively help them to develop early reading skills. When the parents draw attention to letters and sounds, their children begin to notice them as well. Thus children's early reading can be seen to greatly benefit from reading picture books with families and developing initial awareness of pictures, sound, and letters relationship.

The adoption of off-the-shelf digital picture books available from web stores, e.g. Kindle Store and Barnes & Noble, can be another way of providing a number of picture books for children. The available collection from which picture books are chosen as a part of the collection of a public library, however, is still not so large. Though more than 1,100 public and school libraries in USA have introduced the digital book distribution system of OverDrive Inc. [50], through which children can read the digital picture books, the introduction of such a system also becomes a burden financially [12]. Further it should be noted that off-the-shelf digital picture books are usually read on dedicated devices each of which is not well suited for children to use by gathering around.

In order to provide a large collection to children researchers [17] [28] [30] have tried to address the problems by building a children's digital library, named ICDL, on the Web. There are many other experimental, public, and commercial digital libraries. Two studies related to ICDL have investigated how to help children from grade schools or junior high schools to find the digital information about children's books and read them through verbal communication [18] or through internet communication [35]. The former study has designed and developed an interface in which children (the major targets are children aged around 8) can use multiple mice collaboratively on a single computer to access multimedia information. As the children get into the search section, they are required to click category symbols and forced to engage in conversation to agree upon how to use two mice. The latter study has been carried out at Baltimore University, where children in the higher grades or from junior high schools have used the Internet to exchanged and shared ideas about the children's books in ICDL with their reading group by making digital notes and/or marks. Although the effectiveness of ICDL in reading children's books has been certificated in a four-country study [19], the focus is on the reading together activity to some extent and does not support the combining of the physical spaces and artifacts in a library. In [24] [42] it is said that children desire for physical spaces in a library for social communication.

The stream for building new large-scale digital devices includes a number of projects. The researchers in the projects have tried to realize new children's libraries to meet various children's needs [22] including a new design of physical spaces for old as well as new media. The project conducted by Aarhus University and Aarhus School of Architecture in Denmark [24] has studied an interactive children's library that can engage the children's physical activity in finding printed children's books through the digital system. The prototype system, StorySurfer, has an interactive browsing device set up in a public library. The system has category buttons on the floor of the library that display the front-covers of categorized books, and the children (the major targets are children aged around 8) together select a category by stepping on the appropriate category buttons. The children are able to walk among the front-covers to choose books of interest, and the information then is sent to an interface module displaying the book locations. This system motivates the children for mutual interactions and then they can have an enjoyable time when reading as usual, but to do this they are required to know the categories beforehand. The device seems to be too large to be suitable for ordinary libraries. The study has also revealed that the children do not prefer to search for books through the available systems; however they do like to browse in physical bookshelves to find books of interest, and prefer the front-covers instead of the backs of the books. Shelf-Slider, which is shown in the study [24], is a proposal to assist children aged around 8 in browsing the front-covers. By touching the digital slider attached to the sidewall of a physical bookshelf, the children together are able to browse the front-covers in this bookshelf. When the children stop the slider on a particular front-cover, the location of its corresponding book is displayed. The slider interface meets the children's preference, but when the size of the book collection becomes too large, they can easily lose their way to browse, making browsing difficult.

Another project, Search Wall [14], aims to realize a tangible interface which searches for interesting information in a public library. It provides a large vertical wall display, a small table in front of it, and 10 categories/keyword-cubes surrounding them. Children aged 5 to 11 have access to digital data, such as titles, front-covers, etc., about printed children's books from the wall display by narrowing down the search area in the collection. The children can enjoy searching, but they are required to use the categories/keyword-cubes. Although they together can browse in the large wall display, the number of books presented is limited, and they have to change the presentation frequently to find the desired books.

When supporting the children's activity in a library by reflecting the results of those studies or implementing those kinds of systems, there is an unavoidable issue related to copyright protection [13]. To increase the number of digital books in the collection the library has to negotiate with the copyrights holders. This negotiation becomes a heavy burden financially as the number of newly collected digital books increases. And if we collect only books which are allowed to be copied and/or whose copyrights have expired, we will lose a great way to give the children a further opportunity to read. Note that we can find a variety of places, i.e. websites, where the children can freely read digital picture books.

The approach taken here is different from the studies described above. The installation of the BrowsReader in the children's room of a library or kindergarten, offers an easy way to build a new environment for enhancing the children's activity in browsing/reading together. In this environment, children, gathering around the BrowsReader, become able to easily browse a large number and wide variety of picture books in harmony with the ordinary browsing in physical bookshelves, and to read any found picture book with the same interface as that provided in an ordinary printed one. The hardware setting is just a computer with a display. Also on the BrowsReader many and various digitized/web picture books become available at little expense and without infringing copyright protection.

3. The BrowsReader

The BrowsReader, which is different from the models in the related work described above, takes important roles in the approach taken here to build a new reading environment in the children's room of a library or kindergarten for enhancing the children's activity in browsing/reading together. This chapter states the basic ideas of the BrowsReader, and three notions to realize the BrowsReader; surrogate picture book, abstracted bookshelf and unified view. The details in how to organize an abstracted bookshelf and to provide a unified view are also described in this chapter.

3.1 Basic Ideas

The basic ideas of the BrowsReader come from the children's activity in browsing and reading printed picture books in the children's room of a physical library or kindergarten. The BrowsReader is designed for processing the primary and secondary information seamlessly to better help children to understand the relationship between the former and the latter, and for flipping the pages to read any printed, digitized, and web picture book [39]. In order to enforce the children's activity in browsing/reading picture books together, the BrowsReader was settled on a digital table. The digital table is an ordinary reading table except a computer and a display. Around the table, children are allowed to browse in a large virtual bookshelf and read the found picture books with a face-to-face communication, and touch the bookshelf and handle the picture books as if they were the physical ones [40].

3.1.1 Primary and Secondary Information

The primary information here is about the printed, digitized, and web picture books themselves, and the secondary information here is extracted from the primary information as to the bibliographic attributes "title" and "author." The secondary information functions as an index to the primary information for managing a large number of picture books. For adults there would be no problem in distinguishing and making use of the two kinds of information. For children, however, it would be difficult to make connections between the two [37].



Fig. 3.1 Information processing in the BrowsReader.

Figure 3.1 illustrates the processing of the information in the BrowsReader. With the BrowsReader children can find books of their interest by browsing in the virtual bookshelf and/or the index. The virtual bookshelf showing the front-cover images of printed, digitized, and web picture books in the form of arranged bookcases is browsed in as seen in the real bookshelf browsing, and the index listing the titles and author-names as seen in the Keyword-in-Context index browsing. For easy browsing the bookshelf can be enlarged by touching a bookcase and the index by dragging-in or dragging-out a character icon. To better help children understand the relationship between the primary information and the secondary information, the visual bookshelf and the index of the BrowsReader in Figure 3.1 should be processed seamlessly, and the results be displayed promptly.

The front-cover images of the books in the virtual bookshelf are intended to be treated as the part of the primary information. The found picture books can be read by just touching their front-cover images and flipping the following page images as if they were printed versions. When the touched image is for a printed book, children can find the book quickly from the real bookshelf based on the information from the BrowsReader. On the table they can read both digital and printed picture books together by page flipping.

The way of processing the information in a conventional children's reading room can be seen in the left part of Figure 3.1, where the primary information is fully utilized. Children find the printed picture books by browsing in the bookshelves, pick them up, and then read them by flipping through the pages on a table. When the entire collection increases in size, children will have difficulty in searching it just by the primary information. A search system for processing the secondary information may help them in this case. This system, however, requires children to input keywords, a not easy task for younger children to do. Children who find books of their interest also need to go to the bookshelves to check the front-covers to be certain they got the right ones. In this environment, the primary information and the secondary information are processed separately, rendering it hard for children to make connections between the two.

In children's digital libraries, the processing of the two kinds of information is still separated even though the primary information is digitized. Children have to know and input keywords or category symbols before starting any search. The accesses to the primary information and the secondary information are independent. Besides, only the digitized picture books are available to read, no printed versions.

3.1.2 Browse/Read Together

For the activities in reading picture books together the communication through gesture/chatter and characters/figures is important. To enhance children's activity in browsing/reading together, we should not only process seamlessly the primary and secondary information, but also build an environment where they can browse/read together by exchanging opinions and handing the interested books over to each other. In the environment we set a digital table in the children's room of a library or kindergarten. Sitting around the digital table, children can browse/read the printed, digitized, and web picture books together with their friends and/or families.

Figure 3.2 illustrates the basic concept of a framework about placing a digital table with the BrowsReader to enhance children's activity in browsing/reading together in the children's room of a library or kindergarten. A digital table has a tabletop touch display controlled by a personal computer with the BrowsReader. The digitized and web picture books are also stored in the PC. The major roles of the digital table are for the children to handle easily the picture books together, and to enforce the face-to-face communication among the children who are browsing/reading the picture books.



Fig. 3.2 A framework for enhancing children's activity in browsing/reading together.

By getting around the digital table to use the BrowsReader, children together with their families and/or friends can more actively browse/read the picture books. For example, a pair of children sitting around a corner of a digital table, or sitting in the opposite sides of the table, or sitting side-by-side, can browse in the same virtual bookshelf by dragging-in or dragging-out characters one after the other with the face-to-face communication, and can collaboratively read a picture book by freely moving around, rotating, and enlarging the book on the digital table, and following each other's page flipping while reading aloud.

A children's reading room in a physical library furnished with some wooden tables and physical bookshelves would be the best place for the activity in browsing/reading together. We foresee the new environment replacing some wooden tables with digital tables would enhance the activity in browsing/reading together. The benefits of such enhanced activity in browsing/reading together can be summarized below as:

- (i) Children can easily browse in a large virtual bookshelf to find the desired picture books together with their families and/or friends.
- (ii) Children can have great fun in reading together with their families and/or friends as they can exchange information about the books through gesture/chatter and hand any picture book over freely to each other.

By gathering around the digital table children can easily browse in the virtual bookshelf and then find picture books which are of interest. Any found picture book, which can be moved around, rotated, and enlarged, is read by flipping the pages with the same convenience as with a printed picture book. The children are also free to browse in the bookshelf while reading the picture books.

For realizing the BrowsReader to build an enhanced environment in a children's room of a library or kindergarten as stated in Section 1.2, with a large number and wide variety of picture books, three notions of surrogate picture book, abstracted bookshelf and unified view are, respectively, organized and provided in the BrowsReader. Next section describes them in details.

3.2 Surrogate Picture book, Abstracted Bookshelf and Unified View

According to the basic ideas we introduce surrogate picture books, abstracted bookshelf, and unified view to realize the BrowsReader in an actual children's room. The BrowsReader reproduces printed, digitized, and web picture books as surrogate picture books, and then presents surrogate picture books in the form of an abstracted bookshelf² arranging linearly their front-cover images so that children can easily browse in this bookshelf just as when browsing in physical bookshelves. The BrowsReader also presents the found surrogate picture books in the form of the ones providing a unified view³ so that they can be read in a similar way to the ordinary printed picture books. Here a surrogate picture book consists of the front-cover image followed by the page images of a printed, digitized, or web picture book. Figure 3.3 depicts the sources of organizing an abstracted bookshelf and of producing the surrogate picture books.



Fig. 3.3 Organizing an abstracted bookshelf and producing the surrogate picture books.

An abstracted bookshelf is organized as the presentation of the *linearly arranged* frontcover images of surrogate picture books both for the printed picture books in a collection and for the digitized/web picture books being collected. Some front-cover images in places will be bundled to make an abstracted bookshelf compact in form. Any front-cover image accompanies its surrogate title, which is a schematization of the title of this front-cover image for

² The word 'abstracted' is used to reproduce the physical objects as the items in a PC and to bundle multiple items into one that can be presented in a compact form on a display with limited space.

³ The word 'unified' is used in the sense that all the surrogate picture books for various picture books are the same in vision and page flipping.

presentation. Some surrogate titles will be superimposed when they are similar in string and then one or more front-cover images can accompany the same surrogate title.

The arrangement of the front-cover images is conducted in the same manner employed to linearly arrange the printed picture books in physical bookshelves. As the arranging schemes in many libraries are based on the colored spine labels for major classification followed by the titles for minor classification (author names sometimes are employed instead), we put, at the heads of the surrogate titles, the color symbols whose arranged order is the same as that of the spine label's colors. We then arrange all the front-cover images according to the color symbols in their corresponding titles. When the front-cover images have the same color symbol, we further arrange them based on the lexicographical order of titles. Note that the color symbols are not for categorizing the picture books but for arranging the front-cover images. Any front-cover image thus has its own relative location in an abstracted bookshelf, which is quite similar to any printed picture book given the fact that it has its own relative location in physical bookshelves. The surrogate titles themselves are also arranged similarly. One of the specific features of an abstracted bookshelf is that it always presents the presence of all the front-cover images. When the images are small in size, many of them can be enlarged by reducing the rest while keeping the relative locations unchanged.

The surrogate picture book for a printed picture book is in fact composed of the image of its front-cover photo followed by the page image showing the physical bookshelf photo (as seen in Figure 3.9(d)), in which this book is placed. For a digitized picture book the surrogate picture book is composed of its scanned front-cover image followed by the scanned images of the rest of the pages, and for a web picture book the web page with its front-cover image followed by the web pages along with the rest of the pages. Unfortunately, by using these basic compositions the surrogate picture books themselves could have different views. We prepare a so-phisticated mechanism of trimming the front-cover/page images and of transferring the page flipping operations into some specific mouse events by employing the CollaboTray technology in [1] so that any surrogate picture book can provide a unified view. In the following we present an overview of some abstracted bookshelves and some such surrogate picture books.

Figure 3.4(a) shows an initial abstracted bookshelf, where the left side presents the frontcover images of in total 10,540 surrogate picture books for 9,459 printed, 79 digitized and 1,002 web picture books, and the right side their surrogate titles. For dealing with a large number of surrogate picture books and easy browsing in an abstracted bookshelf some adjacent front-cover images are grouped to form a surrogate bookcase in fix size *n* (The adoption of a surrogate bookcase makes it possible that about *n* times as many front-cover images as the case when not employed can be presented on a display). Accordingly the surrogate bookcases in an abstracted bookshelf are arranged by reflecting the order of color symbols from the top row to the bottom row and from the left side to the right side in each row. The surrogate titles are also arranged from the left column to the right column and from the top end to the bottom end in each column. Figure 3.4(b), changed over from Figure 3.4(a) by inputting Japanese hiragana characters 'ɔ̃,' '云', and '云̃,' shows an abstracted bookshelf in which the front-cover images and the surrogate titles with these characters in the corresponding titles are enlarged and the rest reduced. Note that the Japanese hiragana consists of 46 basic characters and 30 additional ones, where the basic characters can be grouped into 10 classes. A hiragana character in Japanese seems like an alphabetic character in English.





(b)

Fig. 3.4 An initial abstracted bookshelf and a changed over one.

The front-cover images of the surrogate picture books for three printed, digitized, and web picture books in the enlarged bookcases are presented, after further enlargement, in the top left, bottom center, and top right in Figure 3.5(a), respectively, where these books are to be read using the sophisticated off-the-shelf book viewers. They are, however, different in presentation and in page flipping operation. Figure 3.5(b) presents three front-cover images providing a unified view⁴ for which no copyright protection infringement occurs. Children together can read any of them through ordinary page flipping, and if necessary can move around, rotate, and enlarge it.

Children can freely go into reading from browsing, and vice versa. Also the children are able to browse in an abstracted bookshelf while others glance through it. Since an abstracted bookshelf matches physical bookshelves and any surrogate picture book can be read in a similar way to read a printed picture book, the children together can browse/read with the same feeling as when they are in an ordinary children's room even on the BrowsReader. The instal-

⁴ The superiority of a unified view was certified by asking 11 kindergarten teachers and children's parents to use the BrowsReader with the presentation like Figure 3.5(a) and the one with Figure 3.5(b), where all of whom prefer the latter presentation to the former one.

lation of the BrowsReader thus will make a children's room more attractive in enhancing the activity in browsing/reading together.



(a)



(b)

Fig. 3.5 Surrogate picture books providing a unified view.

3.3 Organizing an Abstracted Bookshelf

The efforts for steadily enhancing children's activity in browsing/reading together in the children's room are to let the BrowsReader have four features denoted above. The processes about an abstracted bookshelf are described in more detail in how to organize in the BrowsReader. Hereafter a surrogate bookcase and a surrogate title, respectively, are written as a bookcase and a title for simplicity unless otherwise noted.

After observing the collection sizes of various public libraries it becomes clear that the BrowsReader should be able to deal with at least 10,000 printed picture books in addition to many digitized/web ones. It also can be noted that the relative locations of the printed picture books in the physical bookshelves of a children's room would be basically unchanged even when the collection sizes are increased or decreased.

3.3.1 The Left Side

On the left side of an abstracted bookshelf the bookcases (each of which several front-cover images are clustered into according to the method [32]) are linearly arranged [32] and then presented. To make the arrangement understandable we put a color bar on the top of each bookcase. This color bar matches the color symbols at the heads of the titles whose corresponding front-cover images are in this bookcase. All the bookcases are color-segmented and arranged according to the color bars. Each printed picture book thus is considered to have its relative location in an abstracted bookshelf that matches its relative location in physical book-shelves.

Children together can change over from one abstracted bookshelf to another one with more enlarged bookcases, if they want to examine in more detail some bookcases or some frontcover images that are small in size. The character icons are prepared to enlarge multiple bookcases containing at least one front-cover image whose corresponding title includes the character(s) that has been dragged-in (The detail of dragging-in the character(s) is given in Section 3.3.3). No enlarged bookcases are reduced, and if the reduced ones are adjacent and given the same color bar, they are bundled to make room for better enlargement. Each bookcase also can be enlarged by touching it, and each front-cover image there, when it corresponding surrogate picture book is to be read, can also be further enlarged by touching it. The presence of all the bookcases is shown all of the time with their arranged order unchanged so that each of the children can notice the present state of an abstracted bookshelf in order to easily browse in it together with others. An abstracted bookshelf then works as a simultaneous menu [29].

Children could become confused about the arrangement of bookcases when there is a sudden changeover on an abstracted bookshelf, so an animation procedure for the changeover when dragging-in a character is employed. A zooming technique is utilized to formalize an animation procedure. The procedure when dragging-out can be similarly formalized. As all the linearly arranged bookcases in an abstracted bookshelf are two-dimensionally allocated on a display for presentation and the bookcases to be enlarged/reduced would be scattered around there, some need to be moved upward while others downward in order to make room as large as possible. This complication makes it difficult to employ the previous zooming techniques [2] [7] [62].

We solve this difficulty by devising a new zooming technique that consists of spiraling-up and -down steps. The spiraling-up steps begin, for each bookcase from the headmost to the dead-end in an abstracted bookshelf, with repeatedly moving this bookcase while it can be moved toward the leftmost position in its own row; and further, if possible, toward the right-most position in the row above, by considering the final bookcase allocation. When moving, reduce the size of the moving bookcase if it includes no front-cover image of the surrogate picture book containing the dragged-in character in its title. After the spiraling-up, each of the bookcases is spiraled-down by reversing the steps and enlarging the size of each bookcase.⁵

With this procedure all the bookcase-images are spiraled-up or spiraled-down uniformly, and then the linear arrangement of the bookcase-images are clearly visualized all the time. The spiraling-up step can be speeded up by (i) grouping the bookcase-images that are adjacent in a row and will be moved upward, and (ii) moving them together toward the final locations after moving them concurrently toward the leftmost in this row. Each bookcase-image that will be moved upward but is not grouped is processed similarly. The spiraling-down step can also be

⁵ The effect of the spiraling-up and spiraling-down steps was examined by seeing that the surrogate picture books that had been found in an initial abstracted bookshelf with 1,000 front-cover images could easily be found in a next step abstracted bookshelf when the animation procedure was employed. They were found statistically much faster than the case when the animation procedure was not employed. Ten university students participated in this examination.

speeded up in the same way. The speeded up steps can be proved that the linear arrangement is unchanged at any time of zooming. Figure 3.6 depicts example zooming steps when some character icon is dragged-in. The left, middle, and right figures, respectively, show the abstracted bookshelves before, during, and after the changeover. The spiraling-up and -down steps, respectively, are depicted in the upper- and lower-middle figures.



Fig. 3.6 Enlargement/reduction of the bookcases.

3.3.2 The Right Side

The titles on the right side of an abstracted bookshelf become useful, especially when the front-cover images to be browsed are too small in size. By noting that even kindergartners to-gether with their families and/or friends can deal with a character [39], the function for children to drag-in a character to have the more enlarged front-cover images is prepared. The dragged-in character is centered in the titles, the titles with this character are selected and rearranged like in the KWIC index [58], and the adjacent titles with common substring are super-imposed as much as possible for better presentation. Accordingly the front-cover images whose titles are included in the presented titles are enlarged.

Figure 3.7(a) presenting the titles (including two superimposed titles) is changed over to Figure 3.7(b) presenting the rearranged titles with the dragging-in character in their centers. The width of each title is adjusted to make room for the dragged-in character and its predecessor/successors, and each title is presented as large as possible so that children can see if the inputted character constitutes a part of the title. When the number of dragged-in characters increases, the number of presented titles drastically decreases and the size of each title increases. This also helps the children to correctly spell the words, as seen in the utilization of an incremental search [56]. It is indicated in [46] [55] children could not correctly spell words until 11, though they start to become interested in characters from around 3 years old. No zooming technique is employed since the titles with the dragged-in characters are the only objects that would be enlarged and presented. The color symbols attached at the heads of the titles match the color bars on the bookcases. Any color symbol can be dragged to browse the color-segmented bookcases in sequence.



Fig. 3.7 Enlargement of the titles.

A touch on a title corresponds to the input of the characters in this title. Since the enlargements/reductions of the left and right sides of an abstracted bookshelf are fully synchronized, as a character is dragged-in, the matched bookcases and the associated titles are enlarged simultaneously. Such synchronization guarantees the left and right sides, as they should be seen in one mechanism.

3.3.3 Dragging-in or Dragging-out a Character

Children are able to easily browse in an abstracted bookshelf with many small front-cover images by dragging-in or dragging-out a character. The dragging-in or dragging-out of a Japanese character which is done by using the character input panel located in the lower-right of a display (see Figures 3.4 or 3.5), is especially effective in such a case. The Japanese hiragana consists of 46 basic characters and 30 additional ones expressing dull sound, nasal sound, etc., and the basic characters are grouped into 10 classes most of which consist of 5 characters. In the second-left division of the input panel almost all the hiragana characters are shown in 10 dark soccer-ball shaped icons; the rest of the hiragana characters are shown in the middle division when needed. In the left-most division 11 colored soccer-ball shaped icons reflecting the spine label's colors are presented in a circle, where the colored soccer-ball shaped icon in the center is for digitized/web picture books (The number of the colored soccer-ball shaped icons will vary depending on the major classification taken in each children's room). When one of the colored soccer-ball shaped icons is dragged, its corresponding color symbol is inputted and all the bookcases with the corresponding color bar are presented after being enlarged. When one of the dark soccer-balls is touched, it is enlarged and presented in the middle division, and then children are able to drag-in a character. By dragging a character icon, the presented bookshelf is promptly refashioned. Children one after the other can drag the character icons in succession. In Figures 3.4 and 3.5 the other 10 soccer-ball shaped icons located at the second-right division are prepared to drag-in alphabetic characters. The soccer-ball shaped icons could be replaced so that characters for some other languages can be inputted.

The characters that have been dragged-in are displayed on the white-ribbon just above the soccer-ball shaped icons. The children one after the other can drag-out or exchange any characters on it to have an imaginable arrangement of characters. These convenient features help the children without knowledge about keywords to easily operate on the BrowsReader. The characters on the white-ribbon can be cleared out to set an abstracted bookshelf to the initial presentation. When a non-superimposed title is touched, its corresponding title is displayed on the white-ribbon. The children together then can update it by adding or removing characters as

they please. The bookcase icon at the bottom-right division is for bringing back the surrogate picture books under reading into an abstracted bookshelf.

3.4 Providing a Unified View

In the BrowsReader printed, digitized, and web picture books are reproduced as the surrogate picture books that can provide a unified view. The surrogate picture books also should be dealt with in a manner that doesn't infringe upon copyright protection when presented to the public. In the following we first discuss about copyright protection and then a unified view.

3.4.1 Keeping Copyright Protection Intact

Any surrogate picture book consists of a front-cover image followed by the page images or the page image with a physical bookshelf photo. No copyright protection issue occurs on the images but for the front-cover images of printed and web picture books, and for the page images of web picture books. This issue on those front-cover images can be solved by taking the obscured front-cover photos or by referring to the web pages with the URL addresses displaying them. It should be noted that the web pages are referred to every time when the front-cover images there are required to be presented. For the page images of web picture books we could take a similar approach to the front-cover images. Since, however, for some sort of web picture books, e.g. flash-based web picture books, no URL addresses for the page images can be known, we take another approach to using off-the-shelf book viewers (or internet explorers) stating at the URL addresses for the front-cover images.

To speed up the presentation, the obscured front-cover images in the web pages are registered and then presented when they are in small bookcases. Eventually the BrowsReader stores (i) for a printed picture book the obscured front-cover image (and the URL address in which the non-obscured front-cover image will be displayed, if available) followed by the page image displaying a physical bookshelf photo, (ii) for a digitized picture book the frontcover image and the rest of the page images, and (iii) for a web picture book the obscured front-cover image and the URL address in which the non-obscured front-cover image will be displayed.

3.4.2 The Mechanism

The surrogate picture books on off-the-shelf book viewers would be variously presented as seen in Figure 3.5(a). To alleviate this defect the BrowsReader has been developed in such a way that the surrogate picture books can provide a unified view. The mechanism to do so is depicted in Figure 3.8, where the CollaboTray technology devised in [1] is employed. The mechanism takes a three-layer structure. The bottom layer is for a web page with a front-cover/page image of some picture book on an off-the-shelf book viewer, and the top layer for just the front-cover/page image. Though on the bottom layer the specific buttons in places should be pressed for page flipping, on the top layer dragging (or touching) of the page images is sufficient for this purpose. The middle layer shows a CollaboTray technology based filter for trimming the bottom layer image so as to be seen on the top layer, for moving around, rotating, and enlarging the trimmed image by the affine transformation [33], and for transferring the dragging (or touching) performance to the corresponding button operation. The moving around, rotating, enlarging, and dragging performances encourage children to read surrogate picture books together. No infringement of copyright protection occurs since the BrowsReader stores no original images on the web pages (and of the printed picture books).



Fig. 3.8 Mechanism of obtaining a surrogate picture book providing a unified view.
3.5 Reading a Surrogate Picture Book

Children together can read a surrogate picture book with a unified view having the feeling that it is an ordinary printed picture book. When a front-cover image in some bookcase is touched, its corresponding surrogate picture book is presented in readable size. This design mimics the book reading activity in a children's room. When the presented surrogate picture book is for a digitized or a web picture book, children can read it by flipping one after the other the front-cover image and then the page images on the BrowsReader as if they are reading a printed picture book on a table. When the presented surrogate picture book is for a printed one, the children can read it by flipping the front-cover image, finding its location in an abstracted bookshelf and also in physical bookshelves, taking it out from there, and then flipping the pages on a table. More than one surrogate picture book can be read simultaneously.

3.6 A Scenario of Utilizing the BrowsReader

Let us see a scenario in which we assume that two siblings are sitting and gathering around the lower-right corner of the BrowsReader and use it to find some picture book of their interest in the children's room of a library. At first the young boy inputs the character 'う' by dragging a character for finding a picture book about 'うさぎ (rabbit).' Then he, unfortunately, can not recognize which one is character 'さ' from the characters, because he just began to learn Japanese characters in his kindergarten. His older sister teaches him the new character by pointing and dragging it instead of him. By their above dragging-in characters 'う,' 'さ,' and 'ぎ' one after the other, they together can change over from the initial abstracted bookshelf (see Figure 3.9(a), where the left side presents the front-cover images of in total 10,540 surrogate picture books for 9,459 printed, 79 digitized and 1,002 web picture books) to a further enlarged one (see Figure 3.9(b)), and examine the further enlarged front-cover images of three surrogate picture books about 'うさぎ (rabbit)' as seen in Figure 3.9(c). He finally become able to select the surrogate picture book entitled 'からっぽのうさぎ(A rabbit in lonesome heart)' whose page image is shown in Figure 3.9(d). He can read it by himself, or more interestingly with his sister sitting at side and helping him flipping the pages. He and his sister can even read out the book in turn, while orienting, enlarging, and flipping the page images freely at their pace.



(b)



(c)



(d)

Fig. 3.9 Use of the BrowsReader.

4. Customization of the BrowsReader to be Installed in a Library or Kindergarten

The BrowsReader is designed to be relatively easily customized so that it can be installed in any children's room of a library or kindergarten, where the main task of the customization is to generate the surrogate picture books for the collection there. This chapter describes the procedures about the generation of surrogate picture books of printed, digitized and web picture books.

In the customization process librarians are requested to collect the picture books that have the permission to be digitized and/or to qualify the picture books on the Web. The former could be the product of the library's course in creative writing open to citizens, and the latter could be found by some citizens e.g. parents when navigating websites.

The generation of surrogate picture books for digitized picture books is rather easy, i.e. it can be by scanning their font-covers and pages. When they are originally digitized the task becomes much easier. The generation of surrogate picture books for web picture books is the registration of the URL addresses of their websites and the preparation of the data to provide a unified view. For digitized/web picture books their titles and dedicated color symbols should be registered. The generation of surrogate picture books for printed picture books includes: collecting the titles and the codes for the arranging scheme, finding the front-cover images on the Web, and taking the photos of physical bookshelves. The titles and codes can be found in a library's bibliographic database. Many of the front-cover images can be found on the Web by employing a search engine with ISBN numbers, though some inadequate ones still need to be filtered out manually. When the front-cover images are not available on the Web, they are manually obtained by taking their obscured photos. The location of each printed picture book is registered in the form of the page image with the photo of the physical bookshelf (as seen in Figure 3.9(d)) in which this book is placed.

The most laborious work in the customization process is the preparation of the data used for providing a unified view for the web picture books (i.e. the preparation of the location coordinates of the page images and the buttons on the web pages) and of the obscured front-cover photos of the printed picture books. The organization of a database, storing the data and photos (as well as the images of digitized picture books if they are open to the public), makes the customization much easier when newly installing the BrowsReader in another children's room.

5. Case Studies

The evaluation about whether children's activity in browsing/reading picture books together was enhanced in a new environment by installing the BrowsReader, was conducted by employing a free-style study of allowing children to use the BrowsReader without control or direction from the researchers, as this kind of study would minimize any unexpected influence on the children's browsing/reading activity in the future. This allowed us to certify the effect of installing the BrowsReader by noticing that the children's activity in browsing/reading together was steadily enhanced.

The BrowsReader was improved and evaluated in a step by step process through two phases; (i) in temporary children's rooms realized during the children's events in 2007, 2008, and 2009, and (ii) in the actual children's rooms realized in a prefectural library, a kindergarten, and three medium public libraries. In the former phase, we not only directly observed the children's behavior, and questioned and interviewed the children but also employed a logging system to record the children's operations on the BrowsReader. In the latter phase, since we were not allowed to directly observe, question, and interview, we analyzed in some detail the data of the reformed logging system to figure out the children's activity in reading together, and questioned and interviewed the librarians/kindergarten teachers who observed the children's behavior.

The digitized and non-flash-based web picture book collection in the former phase was gradually increased in number, although the total number was up to around 700. We further set up the makeshift physical bookshelves arranging 500 printed picture books to see whether the BrowsReader could really work in an actual situation. In the latter phase the further improvement was achieved so as to manage, in a unified view, the complete collection of printed pic-

ture books in an actual children's room in addition to the digitized and non-flash-based/flashbased web picture books. Some color symbols were also prepared for suitably presenting special bookcases which collected the front-cover images of seasonable picture books, with the reflection of the arranging scheme taken in each children's room. The design of several icons was somewhat changed by hearing the opinions of the children. We also checked that the children steadily enjoyed the use of the BrowsReader and became more active when browsing/reading on it.

The hardware setting for the BrowsReader was basically the same in all case studies, though each was customized to manage the collection available in each setting. A 30-inch touch-display was utilized to encourage the children together to operate the BrowsReader by gathering around it as shown in the figures in Tables 5.1, 5.4, 5.8 and 5.11.

5.1 In the Temporary Children's Rooms

This section describes parameter settings of the BrowsReader before the case studies, experimental settings, and results and discussions of the studies in the temporary children's rooms.

5.1.1 Parameter Settings

We fixed several parameters of the BrowsReader before conducting the case studies. For the visualization of the right side of the abstracted bookshelf, the size of any character of the title was set to be at least 15pt (This font size was obtained by examining the texts of randomly selected 20 printed picture books). For easy dragging—in or dragging—out a character, the size of a soccer-ball shaped icon and a character icon was set to be at least 96×96 pixels on a 30inch display [29]. When the soccer-ball icon was touched it would be enlarged so that each character in the icon was displayed at least with 96×96 pixels. When a bookcase-image was enlarged by a touch, the size of each of its book-image would be enlarged to a size no less than 96×96 pixels. About the unified view, for smooth reading of the surrogate picture books, the speed of page flipping was set at one page-shot per second for medium size books. A faster speed was set for smaller books.

5.1.2 Experimental Settings

Table 5.1 describes the environmental settings for the three case studies in the temporary children's rooms. Each study in the three events in 2007, 2008, and 2009 hosted at Oita University was performed from 10:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. by building a temporary children's room in the university campus, where a total of 111, 146 and 126 children aged 3 to 12 with their families and/or friends participated in using the BrowsReader, respectively. Children got together when browsing/reading as they pleased.

In the 2007 event we focused on browsing/reading the surrogate picture books for the digitized versions of 162 printed picture books (the digitization here was performed solely for the case study use because of copyright protection) and on confirming that the children could use the BrowsReader [39]. The children were briefly introduced to the BrowsReader and encouraged to freely use it. In the 2008 event we added the surrogate picture books for another 70 digitized and 228 non-flash-based web picture books to see whether the children could browse/read the web picture books [40]. In this event a display was set horizontally on a table and we checked the effect of such setting. In the 2009 event the collection was enriched by adding other 259 non-flash-based web picture books⁶ and further enriched by preparing the surrogate picture books for relatively new 500 printed picture books. We temporarily put, at the heads of the titles, the color symbols that reflect grouping of the Japanese hiragana characters. These printed picture books also were provided in the makeshift physical bookshelves placed in a temporary children's room. The front-cover images of about 94% of the printed picture books were found in the websites such as Books.or, jp [10] and EhonNavi [21]. By using this setting we were able to see whether the children together read the printed picture books in the physical bookshelves after finding their surrogate picture books on the BrowsReader. A display in the 2009 event also was set horizontally.

⁶ In the 2008 and 2009 events we collected only non-flash-based web picture books whose front-cover and pages images could be accessed via their URL addresses, and employed the simple method of tracing the addresses for yielding a unified view.

Event year	2007	2008	2009		
Place	A temporary children's room build in a lecture room during the events				
Activity time	(10:00 a.m. ~ 3:00 p.m.)				
Hardware setting	Two tables with two 30-inch (2560×1600 pixel resolution) touch displays and two PCs each of which has an Intel [®] Core TM 2 Duo CPU working under an MS Windows XP				
Software setting	BrowsReader2007	BrowsReader2008	Image: Second		
Room setting	Children's room2007	Children's room2008	Children's room2009		
Collection setting	162 digitized picture books	232 digitized picture books228 web picture books	232 digitized picture books487 web picture books500 printed picture books		
Tasks	The children were asked to utilize the BrowsReader as they pleased. After utilizing the BrowsReader, every child was interviewed, requested to fill in the ques- tionnaire.				
Number of	Total 111 children	Total 146 children	Total 126 children		
the partici- pated chil- dren	16 kindergartners (aged 2-5) 68 lower graders (aged 6-9) 27 higher graders (aged 10-13)	27 kindergartners (aged 2-5)99 lower graders (aged 6-9)20 higher graders (aged 10-13)	24 kindergartners (aged 3-5) 79 lower graders (aged 6-9) 23 higher graders (aged 10-14)		

 Table 5.1 Environmental settings for the case studies in the temporary children's rooms.

5.1.3 Results and Discussions

The same logging system to record the children's dragging and touching operations was utilized in all three studies for the statistical survey. We further observed the children's behavior, and requested that the children (along with their families and/or friends) filled in the questionnaire shown in Table 5.2. The questions were prepared to see whether the use of the BrowsReader was enjoyable and whether the activity in browsing/reading together there could be enhanced from the viewpoint of the children. We also collected information on the ages and grades by interviewing the children.

	Questions	2007	2008	2009
Q1	Were you happy when you used it (i.e. the BrowsReader)?	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Q2	Did you use it with others?	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Q3	Did you find a digitized/web or printed picture book when you used it?	-	-	\checkmark
Q4	Did you read a digitized/web picture book when you used it?	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Q5	Did you read a printed picture book near the bookshelf?	-	-	\checkmark
Q6	Did you read a digitized/web or printed picture book together with others?	-	-	\checkmark
Q7	Would you like to use it again?	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Q8	Do you often go to a library?	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

Table 5.2 Questions in the questionnaires for the 2007, 2008, and 2009 events.

(a) Results about browsing

Figures 5.1(a) and (b) show the percentage of the children who dragged-in at least one character and the average number of dragged-in characters, respectively. We noticed that even kindergartners could drag a character icon [39]. In the 2009 event 98.4% of the children dragged the character icons. This rate was larger than 71.9% and much larger than 23.5% in the 2008 and 2007 events, respectively. We believed that this was a result of the front-cover images being small. The children would like to see the front-cover images; and this fact was the main cause of dragging-in more characters when the front-cover images presented were small. We concluded that the BrowsReader was able to work in enhancing the browsing together activity even for a large collection. Most children could freely change over the abstracted bookshelves and then find the surrogate picture book(s) for reading. Even kindergartners and lower graders dragged-in characters, and some children dragged-in multiple characters as seen in Figure 5.1. From the answer to Q5, many children read the printed picture books after using the BrowsReader.



Fig. 5.1 Statistics as to dragging-in at least one character in the 2007, 2008, and 2009 events.

In the 2009 event, where a display was horizontally set and the makeshift physical bookshelves were set up, we observed that about 80% of the children gathered around the BrowsReader for browsing. The percentage was larger compared to that in each of the previous events. After browsing, many children were able to easily locate although not knowing the structure of an abstracted bookshelf and to read the found printed picture books without getting lost in the physical bookshelves, by seeing their locations in the abstracted bookshelf and the page images with their photos (as shown in the BrowsReader2009 on the top of Table 5.1). By this fact we can say that the children could browse in surrogate picture books like usually.

(b) Results about reading

Figure 5.2 shows the average numbers of surrogate picture books for the digitized/web or the printed picture books read by the children getting together. After touching a front-cover image the children began to flip its page images on the BrowsReader or the pages in front of the physical bookshelves. When many page images for a digitized/web picture book or many pages for a printed picture book were observed being flipped one after the other at an easy pace, we decided that this book had been read together. Two to four children getting together read 1 to 2 picture books on average; however with more time they would have been able to read more. In the 2009 event the children read in total 44 printed picture books after finding their surrogate picture books. In the event about a half of the children liked to read printed picture books better than digitized/web ones. Similar results to this one have been found in other research [19]. The children were not bewildered when reading the digitized/web picture books. We thus can conclude that the BrowsReader worked well in allowing the children together to read the digitized/web picture books as if they were reading ordinary printed ones.



Fig. 5.2 Statistics as to reading digitized/web or printed picture books in the 2007, 2008, and 2009 events.

Many children shared the surrogate picture books they found with their families and/or friends when they found something interesting there. Several children, who learned how to orient the front-cover and page images toward them by mimicking the other children's behavior, read the surrogate picture books as if they were the ordinary printed ones. Some of the children still tried to find the printed picture books in the physical bookshelves nearby after reading their digitized versions. The graffiti tool prepared to virtually paint on digitized/web picture books contributed a great deal to motivate the children in reading, although this tool was excluded in the following studies since the graffiti on printed picture books would be prohibited in a library.

(c) Discussions based on the questionnaire and interview

The statistics about the answers to the questions in Table 5.3 are shown in Table 5.2. When comparing the data for the common questions, the results for the years were almost the same except for Q2 and Q4. The average percentage of positive answers to Q2 drastically increased from 38.8 in 2007 to 63.0 in 2008, and then to 83.7 in 2009. This certifies that the activity in browsing/reading together could be enhanced by laying down a display and furthermore by building an environment in which many printed picture books as well as digitized/web ones

were collected. Positive answers to Q4 in the 2009 event indicates the built environment was suitable for kindergartners and lower graders. Some higher graders had a clearer purpose of their own, if the book(s) they were looking for could not be found, they would no longer use the BrowsReader. From the answers to Q1, Q7, and Q8 it can be seen that the children who rarely go to libraries enjoyed the use of the BrowsReader.

From the answers to Q3 and Q5, we can see that most children could easily find the surrogate picture books and not a few children read the printed picture books after finding their locations in the makeshift physical bookshelves. The average percentage (61.1%) of positive answers to Q6 correlates well with our observation that a large portion of the children joined in the acitivity in browsing/reading together.

-	2007	-		2008	-		2009	-	-
	kinder	lower	higher	kinder	lower	higher	kinder	lower	higher
Q1	100	98.5	100	96.3	99.0	100	100	98.5	100
Q2	81.3	32.4	29.6	81.5	61.6	45.0	100	75.4	95.0
Q3							95.2	98.5	90.0
Q4	81.3	89.7	96.3	77.8	88.9	95.0	95.2	98.5	80.0
Q5							34.8	43.2	42.9
Q6							71.4	55.4	70.0
Q7	93.8	94.1	100	88.9	96.0	100	85.7	93.8	100
Q8	75.0	75.0	66.7	77.8	84.8	55.0	81.0	84.6	75.0

Table 5.3 Percentages of positive answers to the questions in the 2007, 2008, and 2009 events.

* Here, kinder: kindergartners aged 3-6, lower: lower graders aged 6-9, higher: higher graders aged 9-12.

Some comments from the interviews with the children were: "We like to read the picture books together with others." "If the same one is in our school library, I will use it every day." Many parents told us that they hoped the BrowsReader would be set in a public space not just in the event.

Based on the studies in the temporary children's rooms we believed that the BrowsReader could be used in the actual children's rooms providing it could manage many more and various picture books. We also noticed that the BrowsReader should be able to flexibly colorsegment the bookcases according to the arranging scheme taken in each actual children's room.

5.2 In the Actual Children's Rooms

Before the case studies in the actual children's rooms, some improvement of the BrowsReader was performed. The further improvement was achieved so as to manage, in a unified view, the complete collection of printed picture books in an actual children's room in addition to the digitized and non-flash-based/flash-based web picture books. The other main improvement was to have a surrogate picture book providing a unified view even for a web picture book with no URL addresses for the page images without infringing copyright protection. Also the bookcases in an abstracted bookshelf were made to be flexibly colorsegmented.

Case studies in the actual children's rooms were successively carried out in five children's rooms of Oita Prefectural library, a fairly large public library playing the central role on public library services in Oita prefecture; Beppu University's attached kindergarten, a medium kindergarten; Beppu City library, a medium public library for providing library services in Oita city; Oita City library, a medium public library for providing library services in Oita city; and Yufu City library, a medium public library for providing library services in Yufu city from October, 2010. The BrowsReader in the five children's rooms was, respectively, named KENTO, BEPPU-KND, SENTO, COMPAL, and YUFU when customized for the prefectural library, the kindergarten, three City libraries in Beppu, Oita, and Yufu city. The details about the customization process in each children's room are described in this section.

We know that many children prefer reading printed picture books to digitized/web ones [19] and most children and parents in Japan have known little about the digitized/web books by the investigation [5]. Using this knowledge and the results in Section 5.1.3, we made suppositions before the following studies (i) that the BrowsReader in each of the children's rooms would work well to enhance the activity of children in reading the printed picture books together as

one positive effect of enhanced browsing together, but (ii) that its work to enhance the activity of children in reading the digitized/web picture books together would be limited.

This section details the environmental settings, results and discussions of the children's rooms in the four public libraries and one kindergarten. These descriptions are divided into three parts considering the scale of the libraries and the order of building the children's room: case studies about KENTO; BEPPU-KND; and the other three. The former one was a case study in a prefectural library; the middle one was a case study in a kindergarten; the latter one was case studies in the city libaries.

5.2.1 In the Children's Room of Oita Prefectural Library

The case study about KENTO in Oita Prefectural library has lasted for about 21 months from October 27th, 2010 to June 28th, 2012. During the period, KENTO was very useful for children's activity in browsing/reading together, and has became a necessary part of the children's room by the words of the librarians of the library.

5.2.1.1 Environmental Settings

Table 5.4 summarizes the environmental settings of KENTO, in which the photo was taken while a girl was dragging-in a character icon to find the picture books of interest with her friends. As shown in the photo, KENTO was set in a side of the counter, and near the enterance/exit of the childeren's room. The hardware setting was basically the same as the ones in the temporary children's rooms, and the ones in all the actual children's rooms in four libraries and one kindergarten, though each was customized to manage the collection available in each setting. The large touch display was used to encourage the children to operate KENTO by gathering around it. The display for each was vertically set and bound on a table to prevent possible accidents, although the horizontal setting was shown in the above case studies to be effective as a way of allowing children to get together.

	In Oita Prefectural library
Study period & Activity time period	October 27 th , 2010 ~ June 28 th , 2012 (264 weekdays, 153 holidays) At any time during 9:00 a.m5:00 p.m.
Arranging or- der	Category of the picture books (without the colored spine label)
Software cus- tomized	<image/>
Room setting	
Children's ages	Kindergartners and lower graders aged 3-9 visited with their families and/or friends.

 Table 5.4 Environmental settings for the case study in Oita Prefectural library.

The customization for KENTO was performed as follows: The digitized picture books were the product of the librarian course opened in Beppu University. The web picture books were found in a varied selection of 20 to 60 websites, e.g. Digital Ehon, Digital Okayama Encyclopedia for Japanese picture books, and ICDL for English picture books, and qualified by the librarians of Beppu University and Oita University libraries. The URL addresses of their websites and the data for providing a unified view were stored in a server of Oita University library, where the front-cover/page images of the digitized picture books also were stored. This server also could be accessed by the kindergarten and the other three libraries via the Web. The surrogate picture books for the printed picture books were generated in the manner described in Chapter 4, where about 67% of the front-cover images were found on the Web by employing a search engine with ISBN numbers. Only their obscured images were stored in KENTO. The rest of the front-cover images in this study were automatically produced and stored as the ones with the titles for simplicity. The picture books in the children's room are arranged by the order of the categories of the books, and there are not the colored spine labels on the books. The bibliographic data and the codes for the arranging scheme were obtained by the manner stated in Chapter 4. Since the number of surrogate picture books in KENTO was very large, we set each bookcase size to 9.

The numbers of surrogate picture books in KENTO were gradually increased as shown in Table 5.5. The additions on KENTO were (i) caused by the updating of the bibliographic data for the printed picture books and (ii) planned to see the effect of the increase in the number of web picture books.

Tumo	October 27 th ,	November 26 th ,	December 3 rd ,	February 25 th ,
Туре	2010	2010	2010	2011
Printed picture books	7,745	7,745	9,459	9,459
Digitized picture books	53	51	46	79
Web picture books	293	946	1,061	1,002
(flash-based)	(146)	(312)	(324)	(324)
Total	8,091	8,742	10,566	10,540

 Table 5.5 Number of picture books in KENTO.

5.2.1.2 Results and Discussions

The reformed logging system, which enables us to check whether the children visited the children's rooms were more active in reading together, was utilized in the case studies in the libraries and the kindergarten, since we could not observe the children's behavior there and also could not record the personal data. The logging system recorded the operations on abstracted bookshelves and surrogate picture books with the time stamps. We questioned the librarians as shown in Table 5.6. The questions were prepared to see whether the built environment could enhance children's activity in browsing/reading together from the viewpoint of the librarians. To see the effect from the viewpoint of the children we checked whether KENTO was actively used by analyzing the logged data.

Table 5.6 Questions for the librarians about F	KENIO.
--	--------

	Questions
Q1	What were the supposed children's major ages?
Q2	Did you see children use KENTO together with others?

- Q3 Did you see children go to the physical bookshelves after using KENTO?
- Q4 Did you see children read together with others on KENTO?

Figures 5.3(a), (b) and (c), respectively, show the average numbers of touched front-cover images in KENTO per holiday (including Saturdays, Sundays and national holidays), weekday, and open day in each month. Total 20,476 front-cover images were touched during 21 months. The number of touched front-cover images per holiday was much larger than the one per weekday; this meant that on holidays the children visited the children's room and operated KENTO with their families in addition to their friends (with whom they might visit on weekdays). On weekdays the grade-schoolers had insufficient time and the kindergartners had no means of transportation to come to the prefectural library. By seeing Figure 5.3(a) that KENTO worked fairly well in steadily enhancing the children's activity in browsing together, where the average numbers of touched front-cover images on holidays were highly stable during 21 months. The largest one was in October, 2011, about 160. In August, 2011, the numbers were not so much changeable between holidays and weekdays.

When comparing the relative number ratios of printed, digitized, and web picture books in the collection, the number ratio of touched front-cover images of digitized/web picture books appeared to be increasing, though that of printed picture books was consistently high. We reconsidered that the children from the beginning had an interest in reading the digitized/web picture books together.



(a) On holidays



(b) On weekdays



(c) On open days

Fig. 5.3 Average numbers of touched front-cover images on KENTO.

Figure 5.4 shows the relative average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, character icons, and titles on holidays in each month, where the ratio for bookcase was very high. By seeing this figure we can say that the children tended to browse the front-cover images even when their sizes were very small. A similar observation to this was made in research [23] which indicated that children liked to browse in the physical bookshelves with front-covers. From the analyses the presentation of front-cover images would be necessary to enhance children's activity in browsing/reading together. It also could be noticed that the children rather frequently dragged-in the characters to enlarge the front-cover images, and sometimes touched the titles. As to the dragged-in characters about 20% of them were for the strings with not less than 4 characters in length. The relative number ratio for touched/dragged character icons and titles in every month was gradually increasing, as seen in Figure 5.4.



Fig.5.4 Average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, character icons, and titles on KENTO.

The logged data was analyzed to estimate how many surrogate picture books for the digitized/web picture books had been read together on KENTO. Since in the children's room the direct observation of the children's activity was not feasible, we considered that the children together with their families and/or friends had read a surrogate picture book when they together spent, for page flipping, 2 to 5 minutes from the opening to the closing of this picture book. This time period was estimated by observing the reading activity of the kindergartners of Beppu University's attached kindergarten (The details are given in Section 5.2.2.2). We could not estimate such time period for a printed picture book. In total 200 surrogate picture books were considered to have been read together within a period of 153 holidays, and this number, i.e. 1.3 surrogate picture books per holiday, seemed rather small.

The fact that on KENTO the number of touched front-cover images was large and the number of surrogate picture books read was small seems to coincide with our suppositions denoted above. By hearing comments from the librarians, however, we came to the conclusion that, if the number of digitized/web picture books in a collection is comparable to that of the printed picture books, the children together are sure to read many more digitized/web ones. This tendency can be seen in Figure 5.3(a).

Although no user's manual for browsing was prepared for KENTO, the children liked to touch the bookcases even in a large abstracted bookshelf, as seen in Figure 5.4. Thus we can note that the children browsed in a large number of surrogate picture books in the same manner as if they were browsing printed picture books in the physical bookshelves. There was also no manual for reading the surrogate picture books. The answers for Q3 shown in Table 5.7 show that when the picture books found by using KENTO were non-digitized/web ones, many children often went to the physical bookshelves to read them. This leads us to note that the children would not clearly differentiate the digitized/web picture books with the printed ones for reading.

	Questions	Answers
Q1	What were supposed children's major ages?	About 3 to 9 (on weekdays: 6 to 9, holidays: 3 to 6)
Q2	Did you see children use it together?	Yes, children mostly with the mothers.
Q3	Did you see children go to the physical bookshelves after using it?	Yes, many children often.
Q4	Did you see children read together on it?	Yes, rather frequently.

Table 5.7 Answers to the questions about KENTO for the librarians.

*Here 'it' means KENTO.

Table 5.7 shows the answers to the questionnaire featured in Table 5.6. From the answers to Q1 and Q3, we can say the children's room of a public library will be one of the best places for lower graders and/or kindergartners to use the BrowsReader. From the positive answers to Q2, Q3 and Q4 we can say that KENTO worked fairly well to enhance the children's activity when seen from the perspective of the librarians. Since KENTO was actively used together with others over 21 months, we can say that they worked well even when seen from the children's perspective.

We outline some interesting comments on KENTO from the librarians. Some of the comments from the librarians are as follows: "The children used KENTO with no help from a librarian." "We saw that the children were sometimes waiting in line in front of KENTO." "The grade-schoolers were positive about dragging-in the characters and some of them were the repeaters." "The children would have read more digitized/web picture books if many more digitized/web picture books that could be clearly identified were collected." Further we noticed that some adults used KENTO to find picture books for reading-to-children.

5.2.2 In the Children's Room of Beppu University's Attached Kindergarten

The children's room of the kindergarten is used by children during the school time and free time almost every day. After KENTO was successfully set in the prefectural library, we further wanted to conduct a case study in a kindergarten for maily use from the kindergarteners. In the case study during almost 2 months from February 9th, 2011 to March 26th, 2011, BEPPU-KND was showed to be liked by the kindergarteners by the words of the teachers there.

5.2.2.1 Environmental Settings

The environmental settings in the children's room of Beppu University attached kindergarten is summarized in Table 5.8, in which the photo is took while two girl were reading a surrogate picture book together. As shown in the photo, BEPPU-KND was set next to the physical bookshelves in the children's room. The hardware setting about BEPPU-KND was same as the one about KENTO.

The customization for BEPPU-KND was as follows: The digitized/web picture books were collected in a similar manner to KENTO. This work was rather easy since we fully utilized the data stored in the server of Oita University library. English picture books were excluded because of the language problem for the kindergatners. The surrogate picture books for the printed picture books (published relatively earlier) were generated similarly. About 51% of the front-cover images there were found on the Web. Their obscured images were stored in BEPPU-KND. The rest of the front-cover images were produced and stored by taking their obscured photos. The picture books are arranged in the order of the category of picture books, and there are colored spine labels on the books. The bibliographic data and the codes for the arranging scheme were set in a similar way to the above. Since the number of surrogate picture books on BEPPU-KND was not so large, we set each bookcase size to 4.

	In Beppu University's attached kindergarten		
Study period & Activity time period	y period & February 9 th , 2011~ March 26 th , 2011 (27 room-open days) At free time during 9:00 a.m12:00 noon (mainly 9:00 a.m10:00 a.m.)		
Arranging order	Category of the picture books (with the colored spine label)		
Software cus- tomized	BEPPU-KND		
Room setting			
Children's ages	Kindergartners aged 3-6 visited with their friends and/or kindergarten teachers.		

Table 5.8 Environmental settings for the case study in Beppu University's attached kindergarten.

The numbers of surrogate picture books in BEPPU-KND was gradually increased as shown in Table 5.9. The additions on BEPPU-KND were caused because we started the free time use following to the school time use.

Туре	February 8 th , 2011	February 9 th , 2011
Printed picture books	1,111	1,111
Digitized picture books	79	79
Web picture books	75	779
(flash-based)	(13)	(324)
Total	1,265	1,969

 Table 5.9 Number of picture books in BEPPU-KND.

5.2.2.2 Results and Discussions

We had two sub-phases for the case study in a kindergarten when using BEPPU-KND: the school time use followed by the free time one. The school time use was set on February 8th, 2011 between 9:30 a.m. and 12:00 noon to introduce BEPPU-KND to the children who were in one of three classes Y (15 children aged 3 - 4), M (21 aged 4 - 5), and E (22 aged 5 - 6). The children in every class were put into 24 subclasses, where every class was 2 to 4 members. We installed two BEPPU-KND's, each of which stored the collection shown in the middle column of Table 5.9, in the children's room. In each abstracted bookshelf the front-cover images of all the printed picture books were reduced in size, since the purpose of this sub-phase was for the children to have the first experience to use BEPPU-KND in both browsing together and reading together. The children's subclasses were to read the digitized or web picture books. There was no difficulty in reading them using BEPPU-KND even for class Y children, since all the children had much experience in reading the printed picture book together.

When many page images of a surrogate picture book were observed being flipped one after the other at an easy pace, we decided it had been read together. Almost all subclasses read the surrogate picture books, and each subclass spent around 10 minutes or more to browse in an abstracted bookshelf and to read 2-3 found surrogate picture books. In total 64 surrogate picture books (26 and 38 for digitized and web picture books, respectively) had been read on two BEPPU-KND's in almost 2 hours. Each subclass spent about 3.5 minutes on average for reading a surrogate picture book. After observing the children's behavior, we asked the children to comment on the enjoyment of using BEPPU-KND, the activity in reading digitized/web picture books, and the experience of utilizing computers. About 85.5% and 76.5% of the answers, respectively, were positive for the former two (there was no noticeable statistical difference among the children's classes), though the percentages of the children in classes Y, M, and E giving positive answer to the last one were 38.0%, 50.0% and 63.6%, respectively. We also asked the kindergarten teachers and children's parents to use BEPPU-KND and questioned whether BEPPU-KND was useful to enhance the children's activity in reading together when installed in the children's room. The answers received were positive.

On February 9th, 2011 we installed one BEPPU-KND in the same room as in the above with the collection shown in the right column of Table 5.9. In the free time use BEPPU-KND

was set so that the front-cover images of not only the digitized/web picture books but also the printed picture books were presented. When the surrogate picture book for a printed picture book was found the printed picture book could be read in this room after being taken from the physical bookshelves. The same logging system as described above was set in BEPPU-KND.

Figure 5.5(a) shows the average number of touched front-cover images in BEPPU-KND per room-open day in each of two months. Total 2,036 front-cover images were touched. The children browsed in an abstracted bookshelf of BEPPU-KND around 75 times per day. This result shows that the children in the kindergarten were active in browsing together. The distributions of the average numbers of touched front-cover images for printed, digitized, and web picture books in the kindergarten and prefectural library were different. This could come from the different number ratios for those picture books in BEPPU-KND and KENTO. As a consequence we can say that BEPPU-KND well matched this room and that the children enjoyed the use of it.





Fig.5.5 Average numbers of touched front-cover images and average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, character icons and titles on BEPPU-KND.

Figure 5.5(b) shows the relative average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, character icons, and titles on a room-open day in each month. The children tended to browse the front-cover images similar to the above. From this figure we can again say that the presentation of the front-cover images of the printed picture books that were collected in the kindergarten would be benificial to enhance the children's browsing together activity. As to the dragged-in characters about 19% of them were for the strings with not less than 4 characters in length.

We estimated how many surrogate picture books for the digitized/web picture books had been read together on BEPPU-KND on the same base for KENTO. In total 89 surrogate picture books (53 different ones) were considered to have been read together within a period of 27 room-open days. The number, i.e. 3.2 surrogate picture books per room-open day, was relatively large compared to the one in the study in the prefectural library, though the activity time period per day was short. Some of the same surrogate picture books had been read by the same child at different times or by different children. We propose that BEPPU-KND could work well to enhance reading together in addition to browsing together.

The fact that the number of touched front-cover images on BEPPU-KND was large during a period of almost 2 months coincides with the suppositions denoted above; however the number of surrogate picture books read on BEPPU-KND was relatively high, which seems to contradict some of these suppositions. The reasons are that the number of digitized/web picture books and that of printed ones were almost equal, and that the published date of the printed picture books were relatively old. Another reason is that the children would like to read the digitized/web picture books as well as the printed ones; which can be confirmed by the comments of the kindergarten teachers described in the following. The children in the children's room with BEPPU-KND were highly active in the activity in browsing/reading together.

The similar notices about browsing in an abstracted bookshelf and reading the surrogate picture books shown in the above for KENTO can hold for BEPPU-KND. Since the children could use BEPPU-KND without the assistance of the kindergarten teachers, the brows-ing/reading activity on BEPPU-KND is said to be seamlessly combined with the accustomed activity in the children's room of the kindergarten.

We questioned the kindergarten teachers about using BEPPU-KND similarly with KENTO as shown in Table 5.6. Table 5.10 shows the answers to the questionnaire featured in Table 5.6. From the answers to Q1 and Q3, we can say the children's room of a kindergarten will be one of the best places for kindergartners to use the BrowsReader. From the positive answers to Q2, Q3 and Q4 we can say that BEPPU-KND worked fairly well to enhance the children's activity when seen from the perspective of the kindergarten teachers. Since BEPPU-KND were actively used together with others almost 2 months, we can say that they worked well even when seen from the children's perspective.

	Questions	Answers
Q1	What were the supposed children's major ages?	3 to 6
Q2	Did you see children use it together with others?	Yes, usually with the friends.
Q3	Did you see children go to the physical bookshelves after using it?	Yes, some children when saw.
Q4	Did you see children read together with others on it?	Yes, they usually read together with others.

Table 5.10 Answers to the questions about BEPPU-KND for the teachers.

*Here 'it' means BEPPU-KND.

We outline some interesting comments on BEPPU-KND from three kindergarten teachers. Comments from the kindergarten teachers are: "The kindergartners in classes Y and M enjoyed browsing and the ones in class E reading too." "The children really liked the digitized/web picture books to read together." We also were informed that KND-Beppu has continued to be used by some children's parents for reading-to-children once a week.

5.2.3 In the Children's Rooms of Oita, Beppu, and Yufu City Libraries

Based on the studies in the actual children's rooms of Oita Prefectural library and Beppu University attached kindergarten, we found that the children's activity in browsing/reading together was steadily enhanced by the installation of the BrowsReader. From September 10th, 2011, we have additionally installed the BrowsReader in three city libraries in local cities in Oita prefecture. They are Oita, Beppu, and Yufu City libraries. The environmental settings, results and discussions of the three case studies are described as follows.

5.2.3.1 Environmental Settings

Table 5.11 summarizes the environmental settings in the Oita, Beppu, and Yufu City libraries. Most environmental settings were similar to the ones in Oita Prefecture library. The study about COMPAL during almost 7 months from October 12th, 2011 to April 22th, 2012; about SENTO was carried out during almost 10 months from September 10th, 2011 to June 26th, 2012; and about YUFU during almost 5 months from December 8th, 2011 to April 22th, 2012. The photos in the bottom column of Table 5.11 were taken while children were browsing/reading picture books with their friends. As shown in the photo, COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU were set near the physical bookshelves arranging printed picture books.

The customizations for COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU were performed in a similar manner to KENTO and BEPPU-KND. These works were, however, much easier than KENTO, because during the customization process on KENTO, the data used for providing a unified view of web picture books (as well as the images of digitized picture books), and of the obscured front-cover photos of the printed picture books have been stored in the database on the server of Oita University library. On average about 50% obscured photos of the printed picture books in each children's room of the three city libraries were found from the server. About color symbols the settings on YUFU were a little different from others, because the printed picture books in the children's room of Yufu City library were arranged by two-way classification; top is category, sub is lexicographical order. The color bars and color symbols on YUFU were then designed to be with two-way color.

	In Oita City library	In Beppu City library	In Yufu City library
Study period & Activity time period	October 12 th , 2011~ July 31 th , 2012 (148 weekdays, 86 holidays) At any time during 9:00 a.m 7:00 p.m.	September 10 th , 2011 ~ June 26 th , 2012 (148 weekdays, 76 holidays) At any time during 9:00 a.m 7:00 p.m.	December 8 th , 2011 ~ July 31 th , 2012 (115 weekdays, 57 holidays) At any time during 10:00a.m 6:00 p.m.
Arranging order	Lexicographical order of titles (with the colored spine label)	Lexicographical order of titles (without the colored spine label)	Two-way classification of picture books; top is category, sub is lexicographical order (with the colored spine label)
Software customized	COMPAL	SENTO	YUFU
Room setting			
Number of children aged 3-9 in the city	About 32,000*	About 6,000*	About 2,000*

Table 5.11 Environmental settings for the case studies in Oita, Beppu, and Yufu City libraries.

* The data is obtained with reference to the population census report in 2005 [53].

Table 5.12 shows the number of surrogate picture books in COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU. Referring to the data about the number of children aged 3-9 in each city, as shown in the last column of Table 5.11, we could find that no matter how many children aged 3-9 are lived in the city, the number of the printed picture books in the city library was almost the

same. The total number of surrogate picture books was around or less than ten thousand, similar to the number in KENTO. So the BrowsReader with ten thousand of surrogate picture books would be fit for the children's rooms of different scale public libraries.

Туре	COMPAL	SENTO	YUFU
Printed picture books	8,356	8,951	7,973
Digitized picture books	79	79	75
Web picture books	796	796	815
(flash-based)	(342)	(342)	(342)
Total	9,241	9,836	8,863

Table 5.12 Number of picture books in COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU.

5.2.3.2 Results and Comparative Discussions

The logging system same as the one on KENTO was utilized on COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU. By analyzing the logged data we checked whether COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU were actively used. Figure 5.6(a) to (f), respectively, shows the average numbers of touched front-cover images in COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU per holiday and weekday in each month. The former was much larger than the latter except in YUFU.

According to the results, we found that COMPAL worked fairly well, especially on holidays, in the children's room. The largest number of touched front-cover images per holiday in COMPAL went up to about 190 and the average numbers were highly stable during 10 months. In SENTO and YUFU the changing tendency of the average number of touched front-cover images per holiday in each month was also upward, although the numbers in some months among the whole period were not so high. The number per weekday in YUFU was a little higher than the one per holiday. The differences among the results in the three city libraries could be related to the number ratio of the children aged 3-9 lived in each city.

The number ratio of touched front-cover images of digitized/web picture books appeared to be increasing in COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU. We confirmed that the children had an interest in reading the digitized/web picture books together.



Average numbers of touched front-cover images on COMPAL

Average numbers of touched front-cover images on SENTO



Average numbers of touched front-cover images on YUFU



Figure 5.6 Average numbers of touched front-cover images on COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU.

To estimate how many surrogate picture books for the digitized/web picture books had been read together on COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU, the logged data for the three was also analyzed on the same base for KENTO. In total 300 surrogate picture books, 47 surrogate picture books, and 14 surrogate picture books were, respectively, considered to have been read together within a period of 86 holidays, 76 holidays, and 57 holidays on COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU, and these numbers, i.e. 3.5, 0.6, and 0.2 surrogate picture books per holiday on the three. Only considering the numbers on the three, much more surrogate picture books have been read together on COMPAL than the ones on SENTO and YUFU. The result still could be considered to relate to the number ratio of the children aged 3-9 in each city.

For confirming whether children's activity in reading together on COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU in the children's rooms of three city libraries were really enhanced, we further analyzed the logged data and drew a comparison. The data for KENTO installed in Oita Prefectural library was also added to analyze. Table 5.13 shows the average number ratios of the digitized/web picture books read together to the front-cover images of digitized/web books touched in four public libraries per holiday. The data shows COMPAL and KENTO worked well in enhancing children's activity in reading together in the children's room, and the children usually go to Oita City library and Oita Prefectural library utilize COMPAL and KENTO like to read books together with their families and/or friends. Conversely in SENTO and Yufu City library, a few and almost few children read digitized/web picture books together in the children's room, although many efforts from the librarians in Yufu City library were taken to encourage children read together in the library rather than back to home. Enhancing children's activity in reading together by the installation of SENTO and YUFU seems much more important. Continually kinds of efforts, for example, further investigating children's reading activities on SENTO and YUFU, and increasing the number of digitized/web picture books, etc., will be taken to attract more children read together in the children's room of city libraries.

		,		
	KENTO	COMPAL	SENTO	YUFU
Average number of the front-cover images of digit- ized/web picture books touched per holiday	20	36	13	9
Average number of the digitized/web picture books read together per holiday	1.3	3.5	0.6	0.2
Average number ratio of the digitized/web picture books read together to the front-cover images of digitized/web picture books touched	0.07	0.10	0.05	0.02

 Table 5.13 Average number ratios of the digitized/web picture books read together to the front-cover images of digitized/web picture books touched on KENTO, COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU

Table 5.14 shows the average number ratios of the digitized/web picture books actually read together to the ones hypothetically read together according to the average number ratio of the digitized/web picture books read together to the front-cover images touched on KENTO. Since KENTO installed in Oita Prefectural library, as a reference, is compared with the ones in other city libraries. Comparing with these data, the average numbers of the digitized/web picture books read together on KENTO, COMPAL and SENTO were much larger than the one on YUFU. The results show that the children in the large city area read more digitized/web picture books together than the children in the other areas. Many efforts are still needed to be taken in the future to attract more children who live far from the large city area to go to the children's room of the library to read more picture books together.

 Table 5.14 Average number ratios of the digitized/web picture books actually read together to the ones

 hypothetically read together according to RKENTO* on KENTO, COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU

	KENTO	COMPAL	SENTO	YUFU
Average number of the digitized/web picture books hypo-	13	25	0.0	0.6
thetically read together according to RKENTO per holiday	1.5	2.5	0.9	0.0
Average number ratio of the digitized/web picture books				
actually read together to the ones hypothetically read to-	1.0	1.4	0.7	0.3
gether according to RKENTO				

* RKENTO is the average number ratio of the digitized/web picture books read together to the front-cover images of digitized/web picture books touched on KENTO, that is, 0.07, as shown in Table 5.13.

Figure 5.7 shows the relative average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, character icons, and titles per holiday in each month, respectively, on COMPAL, SENTO, and YUFU, where the ratio for touching bookcases was all very high. But the ratio for dragging-in and dragging-out characters and touching the titles were all stably increasing, especially on COMPAL.



Average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, character icons, and titles on COMPAL



Average number ratios for touched/dragged bookcases, character icons, and titles on SENTO





In the actual children's rooms we took rather long term studies to certify that the children thoroughly and constantly enjoyed the use of the BrowsReader, and also to confirm the credit that a set of the BrowsReader's can be installed in the children's room of multiple public libraries. To conclude we can say that the kindergartners in a new environment in a kindergarten become more active in reading digitized/web picture books together and can confirm that the children, including the lower graders, in a new environment in a public library will become
more active in reading together when many more and various digitized/web picture being clearly identified are collected.

From the results of the five case studies we can say that the BrowsReader will work well in steadily enhancing the activity of children, especially kindergartners, in browsing/reading together in every children's room. This benefit is also achieved by the basic design of the BrowsReader that the children who gather around and use it can browse/read surrogate picture books together with their families and/or friend with the same feeling provided when browsing/reading the ordinary printed picture books in a children's room. One key to yielding this feeling is the adoption of the color symbols/bars for linearly arranging the front-cover images. Ideally, however, the color symbols/bars should have a well known linear structure such as the one for the numbers 1, 2, 3, etc. This kind of structure for the color symbols is seen in the Munsell color system [45] and also in the color gradation in a rainbow. If the colored spine labels attached to the backs of printed picture books had reflected this ideal linear arrangement, the colored soccer-ball shaped icons in the character input panel (see Figures 3.4, 3.5 or 3.10) of the customized BrowsReader in each children's room of five libraries and a kindergarten would have been presented in the similar way to the hue-circle of the Munsell color system. Fortunately for the study we found a partly ideal linear arrangement in the spine label's colors in Beppu University's attached kindergarten. Also if the display of each customized BrowsReader had been set horizontally, the browsing/reading activity would have been much more enhanced.

6. Concluding Remarks and Future Work

A method of building a new environment for steadily enhancing the children's activity in browsing/reading together is proposed by placing a digital table installed the BrowsReader in the children's room of a library or kindergarten. In this environment a large number and wide variety of printed, digitized, and web picture books are reproduced as a set of surrogate picture books that can provide a unified view, and then the front-cover images of these surrogate picture books are presented in the form of an abstracted bookshelf. The children who visited there together with their families and/or friends can browse in an abstracted bookshelf with the same feeling that is provided when browsing in the actual bookshelves and read a digitized and web picture book as if it is an ordinary printed picture book. Any bookcase of the bookshelf and also any picture book can be enlarged by either finger touching or character input. The BrowsReader is equipped with the mechanism, which employs the CollaboTray technology, to manage the pages of the events on each picture book so that it can be read by page flipping. During the time period of children's activity in browsing/reading together the surrogate picture books together with their families and/or friends, their browsing/reading activities would not infringe upon copyright protection.

To easily realize the enhanced children's activity in browsing/reading together environment in a children's room of each public library or kindergarten, many efforts have taken in the customization of the BrowsReader to match with the features there. In the customization process, librarians are requested to collect the picture books that have the permission to be digitized and/or to qualify the picture books on the Web. The former could be the product of the library's course in creative writing open to citizens, and the latter could be found by some citizens e.g. parents when navigating websites. Based on these works the different libraries would have different collection about the digitized/web picture books. Then by performing the collaboration among the different libraries, children would easily meet more qualified digitized/web picture books by browsing/reading the customized BrowsReader in any children's room.

The BrowsReader was improved and evaluated in a step by step process through in temporary children's rooms in three events, and in the actual children's rooms of four public libraries and one kindergarten. During these case studies we employed a free-style study of allowing children to use the BrowsReader without control or direction from the researchers, even no manual, to minimize any unexpected influence on the children's browsing/reading activities. Based on the studies in the temporary children's rooms we found that the BrowsReader was useful for children's browsing/reading digitized/web picture books and mixed with the printed ones with their friends and/or families, and we were known that children very liked to use the BrowsReader according to the questionnaires. About the studies in the actual children's rooms, we found that the improved BrowsReader could manage many more and various picture books, and was easily customized in any children's room of each library or kindergarten. We can note by the case studies that the BrowsReader is steadily used in each actual children's room and enhanced children's activity in browsing/reading together by the interview of the librarians and kindergarten teachers.

Future research will be needed to investigate in more detail that the children in a new environment become as active in reading digitized/web picture books together as in reading the printed picture books. Beyond the specific remit of this study it is important to remember that the activity of children in reading together has a positive effect on the development of the children's frontal association areas as well as cerebral limbic systems. We have got the facts in the children's room from our case studies as follows: younger children, by reading picture books together mainly with families members and/or friends, experience with a range of emotions, and older children, by reading picture books together with families and/or friends accompanying reading-aloud, acquire literacy skills, broaden communication ability, and advance intellectual thinking. Based on these facts the children in a children's room can be considered to have read a digitized/web picture book if we acknowledge their activity of flipping many pages of the digitized/web picture book, hopefully accompanied with the voice, together with families and/or friends. No observing, questioning or interviewing a child is usually allowed in the children's room, so we will try to perform a method [3] of deciding that the children have read the picture books by identifying, based on the page-specific data, the flipped pages of these picture books. This method also will clarify the instructive picture books that should be collected in a children's room by drawing the curves of flipping the pages of the picture books in the present collection.

By analyzing the page flipping data, we foresee by this method to figure out (i) whether the children together have spent appropriate time for flipping many of the pages, and (ii) how the pages are flipped forwardly and/or backwardly. The result in (i) would be used to decide that the children have read the digitized/web picture books, and in (ii) would help to find the instructive picture books to be collected. The importance is that we have planned to formulate the method by the following rules. The first one is each child should not be observed, questioned and interviewed so that the information on individuals can fully be protected. The second one is the page-specific data to identify the flipped pages should be limited so that the copyright protection of any picture book would not be infringed. The last one is the matching among the page-specific data should be simple so that the reading would not be interrupted.

We are examining the effects of the proposed method in the children's room of Beppu University's attached kindergarten, where the web picture books freely accessible via the Web were used as the digital picture books, and the BrowsReader on which the kindergartners together could find and read various picture books was used as a book reader. By examining how often the children, especially the lower graders, together read digitized/web picture books, in the case where the digitized/web picture books in the BrowsReader have significantly increased in number, it is possible to clarify the differences between reading of digitized/web and that of printed picture books with particular concern toward comprehensibility and affectivity. We are now collecting many more qualified digitized/web picture books and grouping them by age bracket to be registered in the BrowsReader.

The logging system is also being reformulated in order to specify a range of important data, e.g. children's voices, of reading-aloud together as well as to monitor the page flipping actions even for a web picture book with no URL addresses for the page images, and to count how often the same digitized/web picture books have been read. The logged data will be compared with the statistics and findings about reading printed picture books in a children's room. We now plan to modify the proposed method to be installed on an off-the-shelf book reader. When such a book reader is introduced, we are required to make sure that the children use a bookreader together, hopefully accompanied with the voice. One simple way to fulfill this requirement is to ask the librarians and/or kindergarten teachers.

One way of increasing non-printed picture books in number will be to improve the BrowsReader so that it can manage off-the-shelf digital picture books in a manner similar to digitized/web ones, if many more off-the-shelf digital picture books become available and their adoption would not hamper the finances of a public library. We are taking another approach; i.e. many and various digitized/web picture books are being collected by installing a set of the BrowsReader's in the children's rooms of multiple public libraries, where these collected picture books are the ones originally produced or selected by the citizens residing near one of the libraries, and by linking the BrowsReader's to a server of Oita University library via the Web. We already have begun to strengthen the collaboration among the BrowsReader have installed and will be installed in the libraries and kindergartens. Children will browse/read the collection coming from all the BrowsReader's, i.e. the collection of all the registered children's rooms, although they just are around one of the registered BrowsReader's. These BrowsReader's can also be utilized to organize a regional repository as a locally-organized but globally-usable digital library when the products are the digitized (or digital) picture books telling folktales, myths, patrimonies, etc., in a regional community.

References

- [1] Abe, Y., Matsusako, K., Kirimura, K., Tamura, M., Nakashima, M., & Ito, T. (2010). Tolerant sharing of a single-user application among multiple users in collaborative work. In *Companion Proceedings of the ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW'10)* (pp. 555-556). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [2] Appert, C., & Fekete, J. D. (2006). OrthoZoom scroller: 1D multi-scale navigation. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, (pp. 21-30). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [3] Arakane, C., Liu, J., Sato, K., Nakashima, M., & Ito, T. (2012). Figuring out if children actually read digital picture books and which ones should be collected. In *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Asian Digital Libraries*, in press.
- [4] Arnold, R. & Colburn, N. (2009). Ready, Set, Go! Storytime can help children (and parents) become kindergarten-ready, *School Library Journal*, http://www.schoollibraryjournal.com/article/CA6685541.html.
- [5] Asuki- Multidiscipline Laboratory. (2012). Investigation about children's life style in the winter of 2012. [Online], Available: http://asciimw.jp/info/release/pdf/20120315.pdf.
- [6] Barnes & Noble, [Online], Available: http://www.barnesandnoble.com>.
- [7] Bederson, B. B. (2001). PhotoMesa: A zoomable image browser using quantum treemaps and bubblemaps. In *Proceedings of the 14th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, (pp. 71-80). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [8] Beppu City library, [Online], Available: http://www.city.beppu.oita.jp/tosho/>.
- [9] Beppu University's attached kindergarten, [Online], Available: http://www.d-b.ne.jp/beyouchi/>.

- [10] Books.or.jp, [Online], Available: http://www.books.or.jp/>.
- [11] Borgman, C.L., Hirsh, S.G., Walter, V.A., & Gallagher, A.L. (1995) Children's searching behavior on browsing and keyword online catalogs: The science library catalog project. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science*, 46, 663-684.
- [12] Burden financially, [Online], Available: http://www.deseretnews.com/article/705394575/SL-library-pays-more-for-e-books-than-for-print.html>.
- [13] Covey, T. D. (2005). Copyright and the universal digital library. In Proceedings of the International Conference on the Universal Digital Library. Pittsburgh, PA: Carnegie Mellon. http://works.bepress.com/denise_troll_covey/44>.
- [14] Detken, K., Martinez, C., & Schrader, A. (2009). The search wall: Tangible information searching for children in public libraries. In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Tangibles and Embedded Interaction*, (pp. 289-296). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [15] Digital Ehon, [Online], Available: http://www.e-hon.jp/index.htm>.
- [16] Digital Okayama Encyclopedia, [Online], Available: http://www.libnet.pref.okayama.jp/mmhp/>.
- [17] Druin, A., Bederson, B. B., Hourcade, J.P., Sherman, L., Revelle, G, Platner, M., & Weng, S. (2001). Designing a digital library for young children: An international partnership. In *Proceedings of Joint Conference on Digital Libraries*, (pp. 398-405). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [18] Druin, A., Revelle, G., Bederson, B. B., Hourcade, J.P., Farber, A., Lee, J., & Campbell, D. (2003). A collaborative digital library for children. *Computer Assisted Learning*, *19* (2), 239-248.
- [19] Druin, A., Weeks, A., Massey, S., & Bederson, B. B. (2007). Children's interests and concerns when using the International Children's Digital Library: A four-country case study. In *Proceedings of the 7th ACM/IEEE-CS Joint Conference on Digital Libraries*, (pp. 167-176). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [20] Editing Committee of Nippon Association for Librarianship. (2006). Children's reading environment and public libraries (in Japanese). Tokyo: NAL.

- [21] EhonNavi, [Online], Available: http://www.ehonnavi.net/>.
- [22] Enemark, A. (2008). Ten commandments for the future children library. Scandinavian Public Library Quarterly, 41 (3), 8-9. http://splq.info/issues/vol41_3/SPLQ-3-2008.pdf >.
- [23] Eriksson, E., Krogh, P. G., & Lykke-Olesen, A. (2007). Inquiry into libraries a design approach to children's interactive library. In *Proceedings of the Nordes 2007 Conference* on Design Inquiries. http://www.interactivespaces.net/data/uploads/papers/28.pdf>.
- [24] Eriksson, E. & Lykke-Olesen, A. (2007). StorySurfer: A playful book browsing installation for children's libraries. In *Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children*, (pp. 57-64). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [25] Foorman, B. R., & Torgesen, J. (2001). Critical elements of classroom and small-group instruction promote reading success in all children. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 16 (4), 203-212.
- [26] Houck, K., & Simon, A. (2008). Highlights of research on summer reading and effects on student achievement. New York State Library. http://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/summer/research.pdf>.
- [27] Hourcade, J. P., Bederson, B. B., Druin, A., Rose, A., Farber, A., & Takayama, Y. (2004). The International Children's Digital Library: Viewing digital books online. *Interacting with Computers*, 15, 151-167.
- [28] Hutchinson, H. B., Bederson, B. B., & Druin, A. (2006). The evolution of the International Children's Digital Library searching and browsing interface. In *Proceedings of the* 2006 Conference on Interaction Design and Children, (pp.105-112). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [29] Hutchinson, H. B., Druin, A., Bederson, B. B., Reuter, K., Rose, A., & Weeks, A.C. (2005). How do I find blue books about dogs? The errors and frustration of young digital library users. In *Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*. (CD-ROM).
- [30] Hutchinson, H. B., Druin, A., & Bederson, B. B. (2007). Supporting elementary-age children's searching and browsing: Design and evaluation using the International Children's

Digital Library. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 58 (11), 1618-1630.

- [31] International Children's Digital Library, [Online], Available: http://en.childrenslibrary.org/>.
- [32] Ito, T., & Kizawa M. (1983). Hierarchical file organization and its application to similarstring matching. *Journal of the ACM Transactions on Database Systems*, 8 (3), 401-433.
- [33] Jain, A. K. (1988). Fundamentals of Digital Image Processing. Prentice Hall, New Jersey.
- [34] Jalongo, M. R. (2004). Young children and picture books (2nd ed.). Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- [35] Kaplan, N. & Chisik, Y. (2005). Reading alone together: Creating sociable digital library books. In *Proceedings of 2005 Conference on Interaction Design and Children*, (pp. 88-94). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [36] Kindle Store, [Online], Available: < http://www.amazon.com/KindleeBooks/b/ref=sa_menu_kbo8?ie=UTF8&node=1286228011>.
- [37] Kuhlthau, C. (1988). Meeting the Information Needs of Children and Young Adults: Basing Library Media Programs on Developmental States. *Journal of Youth Services in Libraries*, 51-57.
- [38] Liu, J., Ito, T., Toyokuni, N., Sato, K., & Nakashima, M. (2012). Enhancing children's activity in browsing/reading together by the installation of the BrowsReader in the children's room of a library. *Journal of The Information Processing and Management*, doi: 10.1016/j.ipm.2012.02.005.
- [39] Liu, J., Nakashima, M., & Ito, T. (2007). BrowsReader: A system for realizing a new children's reading environment in a library. In *Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Asian Digital Libraries*, LNCS 4822, (pp. 361-371). Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.
- [40] Liu, J., Sato, K., Nakashima, M., & Ito, T. (2008). Browse&Read picture books in a group on a digital table. In *Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Asian Digital Libraries*, LNCS 5362, (pp. 309-312). Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.
- [41] McGee, L. M. & Morrow, L.M. (2005). *Teaching literacy in kindergarten*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.

- [42] McIntyre, M. H. (2002). Start with the child: The needs and motivation of young people. A report commissioned by resource and CILIP. < http://www.umiacs.umd.edu/~allisond/child_info_tech/Start-with-the-child.pdf>.
- [43] McKenzie, P. J., & Stooke, R.K. (2007). Producing storytime: A collectivist analysis of work in a complex communicative space. *The Library Quarterly*, 77 (1), 3-20.
- [44] Mitsuyoshi, M. (2001). Constructing a local digital library network using z39.50 and dublin core. Plan and subject in "Digital Okayama Encyclopedia," (in Japanese). *Digital Libraries*, 21, 3-18.
- [45] Munsell, A. H. (2004). A color notation: An illustrated system defining all colors and their relations by measured scales of hue, value, and chroma (9th ed.). Whitefish, MT: Kessinger Publishing.
- [46] National Institute for Japanese Language. (1972). The National Institute for Japanese Language: Reading and Writing Ability in Pre-school Children (in Japanese). Tokyo Shoseki, Tokyo.
- [47] Oita City library, [Online], Available:< http://www.library.city.oita.oita.jp/>.
- [48] Oita Prefectural library, [Online], Available: http://library.pref.oita.jp/>.
- [49] Old Picture Book, [Online], Available: http://www.oldpicturebooks.com/>.
- [50] OverDrive, [Online], Available: Inc: http://www.overdrive.com/>.
- [51] Owen, T.B. (2005) Chartered Institute of Library and Information Professionals (CILIP). In M.A. Drake (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Library and Information* Science Second Edition: Vol. 2. (pp. 490-499). London: Taylor & Francis.
- [52] Oxford Owl, [Online], Available: http://www.oxfordowl.co.uk/>.
- [53] Population Census Report of the Municipalities in Oita Prefectural in 2005, [Online], Available: http://www.city.beppu.oita.jp/03gyosei/tokei/kokusei/h17kekka/nenrei.pdf>
- [54] Reuter, K. (2007). Assessing aesthetic relevance: Children's book selection in a digital library, *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 58 (12), 1745-1763.
- [55] Reuter, K. & Druin, A. (2004). Bringing together children and books: An initial descriptive study of children's book searching and selection behavior in a digital library. In *Pro-*

ceedings of the American Society for Information Science and Technology, (pp.339-348). Providence/IR.

- [56] Stallman, R. (1993). GNU Emacs manual (9th ed.). Cambridge, MA: Free Software Foundation.
- [57] Statewide Summer Reading Program, [Online], Available: http://www.summerreadingnys.org/>.
- [58] Steensgaard-Madsen, J., Hughes, J. W., Powell, M. S., Ehrig, H., Kreowski, H.-J., Nielsen, L.S., Abrial, J.-R., Sørensen, I., Gallimore, R. M., Coleman, D., & Goguen, J.A. (1981). KWIC-index generation. In *Proceedings of a Workshop*, (pp.47-117). London/UK: Springer-Verlag.
- [59] Stooke, R., & McKenzie, P. J. (2009). Leisure and work in library and community programs for very young children. *Library Trends*, 57 (4), 657-675.
- [60] Taira, M. (2009). *Reading-to-children strikes through the heart in a brain* (in Japanese).Kumon Shuppan, Tokyo.
- [61] The CILIP Carnegie and Kate Greenaway Children's Book Awards, [Online], Available: http://www.carnegiegreenaway.org.uk/home/index.php>.
- [62] Toyoda, M., & Shibayama, E. (2000). HishiMochi: A zooming browser for hierarchically clustered documents. In *Proceedings of the Human Factors in Computing Systems*, (pp. 28-29). New York, NY: ACM Press.
- [63] Yufu City library, [Online], Available: http://library.yufu-city.jp/>.

Index

A

Abstracted bookshelf-----3, 15, 21, 28, 31, 34, 65

B

Beppu University's attached kindergarten--5, 42, 51, 64, 67 BEPPU-KND-----43, 51, 57 Beppu City library-----5, 42, 58, 62 Bookcases-----12, 18, 21, 26, 28, 34, 42, 45, 48, 62, 65 Browsing/reading together-----2, 7, 11, 13, 15, 20, 33, 37, 56, 64, 65 BrowsReader-----2, 10, 11, 21, 25, 28, 31, 33, 40, 52, 57, 65, 68

С

Cerebral limbic systems -----1 Character icon-----12, 21, 23, 25, 34, 37, 43, 55, 62 Children's room-----1, 7, 11, 14, 21, 25, 31, 33, 42, 65

Color bar21, 24, 58
CollaboTray17, 27, 65
Collaboration66, 68
Copyright protection4, 10, 19,
26, 35, 42, 65, 67
Customization5, 31, 42, 44, 51, 57, 65
COMPAL42, 57, 59

D

Digital library2, 8, 68
Digital picture books2, 8, 10
Digital table11, 14, 65
Digitized picture books2, 8,
13, 31, 36, 44, 52, 57, 65

F

Flash-based web picture books----5, 26, 34, 42 Free-style study-----33, 66 Front-cover images-----3, 12, 16, 21, 26, 31, 34, 44, 51, 65

Ι

ISBN------31, 44

K

KENTO-----42, 43, 45, 51, 55, 57, 59, 61 KWIC index----- 23

L

Linear arrangement-----22, 64

N

Non-flash-based web picture books---5, 33, 35

0

Off-the-shelf digital picture books—2, 8,
68
Oita City library-----5, 42, 58, 62
Oita Prefectural library-----5, 42, 43, 57, 61

P

Page flipping-----13, 15, 17, 19, 27, 34, 49, 65, 67 Page image-----3, 13, 15, 17, 26, 32, 39, 53 Physical bookshelves-----3, 15, 21, 28, 31, 35, 40, 50, 54 Primary information-----2, 4, 6, 11, 13 Printed picture books-----3, 5, 11, 16, 21, 27, 31, 35, 42, 53, 66 Public library-----1, 7, 42, 50, 63, 65

S

Secondary information2, 4, 6, 11, 13
SENTO42, 57, 59
Simultaneous menu 22
Spiraling-down22
Spiraling-up22
Superimposed titles24
Surrogate bookcases18, 21
Surrogate picture books3, 15, 19,
26, 28, 31, 35, 40, 42, 65
Surrogate titles17, 21

T

Touch display-----3, 14, 34, 43

U

Unified view------3, 15, 20, 26, 31, 33, 42, 57, 65

W

Web picture books------3, 12, 16, 18, 26, 31, 34, 39, 44, 52, 62, 65

Y

YUFU	42, 57, 59
Yufu City library	5, 42, 58, 62